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Operation Rochester. 

Medical assessment in respect of Category 3A cases. 
r 

Overview Thomas JARMAN 

Mr Jarman was a widower living alone in Fareham. He had a son and 
daughter in law Alec iiiiiiii~i~.-_d.-i~ii~iiiiiiiwho were his main carers. He had a home 
help who would visit once a week. 

He was in good health until early 1999 during which he slowly declined over 
the course of the year probably due to the onset of leukaemia. In June 1999 
Mr Jarman moved to The Red House Residential Home when according to his 
son and daughter in law he was unable to cope at home and had been 
diagnosed with Hairy cell leukaemia in May he also suffered from Alzheimer’s 
disease. 

Mr Jarman was admitted to the Queen Alexander Hospital and then 
transferred to Gosport War Memorial Hospital on 27th October 1999 with 
bronchopneumonia, septicaemia and a stroke from which he had made no 
real physical, functional or mental recovery for continuing care and 
rehabilitation. 

He deteriorated over the four weeks of his admission and died on 10th 
November 1999. 

Cause of death was recorded as bronchopneumonia and hairy cell leukaemia. 

When admitted to Daedalus Ward there existed a summary in the notes of his 
recent problem but no clinical examination was recorded. The notes state:- 
"in view of poor prognosis, not for 999. I am happy for any nurse to verify his 

death. Mainly for TLC." 

Mr Jarman was distressed and unwell on 7th November, as a result a 
decision was made (not clear if this was purely a nursing decision or whether 
there was medical involvement) to prescribe the ’as required Oramorph’ 

When this had little effect a decision was made to start Midazolam alone in a 
syringe driver. 

Finally Diamorphine was added to the syringe driver at 0010 on the 8th 
November 1999. Mr JARMAN received a medical review during that day and 
was found to be frail but comfortable though further deteriorating. 
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On 9th November an increased dose of Diamorphine was required, this being 
justified in the nursing cardex as he does not appear comfortable (despite 
receiving 30 mgs of Diamorphine currently in the syringe driver) and with 
increased agitation. 

It would appear at this stage that 60 mgs of Diamorphine was started in the 
syringe driver together with the Hyoscine and 2 mgs of Haloperidol. Later Mr 
JARMAN is recorded as being much more comfortable. 

On 10th November a new prescription of Diamorphine, Hyoscine and 
Haloperidol was written up regularly and 100 mgs placed in the syringe driver 
at 09.45hrs. 

Thomas JARMAN died at 14.50hrs the same day. It is not clear why this new 
prescription was written up, or why a dose of 100 mgs was chosen, nor is it 
clear whether this was chosen by the medical or nursing staff. 

This case was brought to the attention of Operation ROCHESTER in 2002 by 
Mr Alec JARMAN. 

As a consequence the case was examined by a team of medical experts in 
geriatrics, palliative care, toxicology, general medicine and nursing. They took 
the view that whilst the care afforded to Mr JARMAN was potentially negligent 
that he died of natural causes. 

This view was independently quality assured and agreed by a legal/medical 
lawyer who had access to all of the papers. 

Finally an expert Geriatrician was assigned to this case to make a further 
independent medical and evidential assessment. 

He examined in detail the circumstances surrounding the care and treatment 
of Mr JARMAN. 

The expert concluded that Mr Jarman was an extremely frail and elderly 
gentleman when he entered the Gosport War Memorial Hospital and was not 
going to recover from his various problems. It was inevitable that he was 
going to deteriorate and die in hospital. 

Recording of the medical notes seemed very poor and the justification for 
writing up various medications was not made clear in the medical notes. 

The Geriatrician thought it reasonable that he received doses of Oramorph on 
7th November when he was distressed and deteriorating. It was also 
appropriate that he was started on a syringe driver including 20 mgs of 
Diamorphine on 8th November as well as the Haloperidol and Midazolam to 
help his agitation. 

He commented that Midazolam is widely used subcutaneously in doses from 
5 - 80 mgs in 24 hours and is particularly used in terminal restlessness. The 
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dose of Midazolam used was 20 mgs per 24 hours which was within current 
guidance; although many believe that elderly patients may need a dose of 5 - 
20 mgs per 24 hours. 

The dose of Diamorphine was raised to 30 mgs on 9th November and then 
apparently doubled up to 60 mgs because he showed continual stress and 
agitation. As Mr Jarman settled following this medication change the 
geriatrician concluded that it was a reasonable change in dosage. 

Whilst there was nothing recorded as to why Mr JARMAN’s Diamorphine was 
re-written on 10th November, or any information about the decision to give him 
a 100 mgs from 09.45 on 10th November, it was the experts view that this was 
probably an unnecessary step up in dosage as there was nothing to suggest 
he was not still settled on the 60 mgs in 24 hours dose. It was possible that 
this may have had the effect of very slightly shortening Mr Jarman’s life by no 
more than a few hours. 
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Operation Rochester. 

Medical assessment in respect of Category 3A cases. 

Overview Edwin CARTER 

Mr Carter was a frail 92 year old widower with a son and lived in a rest home 
in Southsea. He was a retired civil servant for the Department of Health. 
He had multiple medical problems over a number of years. His health started 
to more rapidly decline and enter a final phase from July 1993. A probable 
(and likely) diagnosis of carcinoma of stomach was made and he received 
palliative care in hospital until the time of his death on 24th December 1993. 

Cause of death was recorded as cancer of the stomach and 
bronchopneumonia. 

On 20th July, 1993 Mr Carter had an emergen~c~ admission following a 
domiciliary visit. The GP had referred on the 7 july because he was 
deteriorating generally with episodic vomiting with altered blood. The 
domiciliary visit letter documents vomiting and weight loss, feeling fed up and 
being depressed but he was mobilising indoors. He was discharged on 30t" 
July where as he had not been noted to vomit on the ward a Barium Meal had 
been undertaken. The report of the Barium Meal documents an abnormality 
in the gastric fundus with mucosal irregularity. It was difficult to undertake the 
procedure because of patient immobility. A gastroscopy to take biopsies is 
recommended. It was also noted on the abdominal x-ray, that he had 
abnormal trabecula pattern in the right hemi-pelvis suggestive of Paget’s 
disease. The report of the Barium Meal is suggestive but not diagnostic of 
gastric cancer. 

A letter from the GP, August 1993 notes that Mr Carter is very frail, that there 
was no question that he could have a gastric operation should cancer be 
confirmed, that actually undertaking further investigations would be difficult 
and unpleasant and he suggests that Mr Carter should be just managed 
symptomatically. The consultant Dr Lord agrees and offers palliative care, if 
and when, it is needed. 

On 25t" October he is admitted as an emergency to St Mary’s General 
Hospital with vomiting and severe back pain. The GP states in his letter that 
he had already started regular Diamorphine. However it is not clear from the 
GP’s letter when it was started and how much the patient was currently on. 
The GP believes that the patient now needs a syringe driver. 
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Subsequently Mr Carter is transferred to John Pounds Ward for pain control 
and is recorded as being on Diamorphine pump. 

On the 2nd November he is noted to have his pain controlled, however he is 
now completely dependent with a Barthel of 1. His notes state that his son is 
aware of the prognosis and agrees to Palliative Care. He is switched to oral 
morphine for pain control. 

On 5th November his family agree to long term care at Gosport War Memorial 
and it is recorded his pain is well controlled by the oral morphine slow release. 
He is then admitted on 8th November to Gosport War Memorial for long stay 
care. He is in no pain and does not want to be examined. 

The nursing and medical notes then record between 8th November and 20th 

December, apart from bouts of nausea, retching, and occasional pyrexia, his 
pain seems mostly controlled but he is clearly, slowly physically deteriorating. 
On 20th December it is noted that he was deteriorating further and that sub-cut 
Diamorphine might be needed. 

On 23r~ December he is noted to be rapidly deteriorating and that sub-cut 
analgesia had been commenced the day before (80mgs diamorphine). The 
family were aware and happy with the management. On 24th December he is 
recorded as having died peacefully at 12.05 hours. 

This case was brought to the attention of Operation ROCHESTER in 
November 2002 by his son Edwin CARTER (Jr). 

As a consequence the case was examined by a team of medical experts in 
geriatrics, palliative care, toxicology, general medicine and nursing. They took 
the view that whilst the care afforded to Mr CARTER was potentially negligent 
that he died of natural causes. 

This view was independently quality assured and agreed by a legal/medical 
lawyer who had access to all of the papers. 

Finally an expert Geriatrician was assigned to this case to make a further 
independent medical and evidential assessment. 

He examined in detail the circumstances surrounding the care and treatment 
of Mr CARTER. 

The expert concluded that Mr Edwin Carter was a frail 92 year old gentleman 
who had had multiple medical problems over a number of years. His health 
started to more rapidly decline and enter a final phase in July 1993. A 
probable (and in my view likely) diagnosis of carcinoma of stomach was made 
and he received palliative care in hospital until the time of his death on 24th 
December 1993. 

The dose of Diamorphine and Midazolam started in the syringe driver on 22nd 
December might be considered to have been excessive, however I believe 



GMC100912-0008 

that this made a negligible contribution to the death of Edwin Carter. 
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Operation Rochester. 

Medical assessment in respect of Category 3A cases. 

Overview Clifford HOUGHTON 

Mr Houghton lived with his wife Gladys in a bungalow in Gosport. They had a 
daughter Pamela. They lived independently with no outside help. Mr 
Houghton had poor mobility and had been admitted several times to Gosport 
War Memorial Hospital for respite care to give his wife a break after suffering 
a stroke in 1991. 

Following a further event (stroke) and decline at the end of January 2004, he 
is readmitted to the Gosport War Memorial Hospital where he deteriorates 
and dies over 6 days. 

Cause of death was recorded as cerebrovascular accident and senile 
dementia. 

On 31st January 1994 he was readmitted as an emergency and the history 
was that he had a Transient Ischemic Attack (Mini stroke) on the Friday 
lasting 20 minutes and since then he had been sleeping excessively. 

On 3rd February the medical notes record that his overall condition has 
deteriorated and he was short of breath and restless, he was not feeding or 
drinking. The notes suggested that he might have had a further CVA (stroke) 
but no examination is recorded. No plan is made apart from a chat with the 
wife. The nursing cardex had noted that he was very variable in condition on 
2n~ February and very drowsy at times. The nursing notes also record that his 
condition deteriorated on 3rd February with breathlessness and some distress 
and he had been seen by Dr Barton and was for a syringe driver "if and when 
needed". The medical record on 4th February states that he is still unwell and 
eating and drinking very little. 

On 6th February 1994 he is reported to be Cheyne-Stoking (respiratory 
problem) in the nursing notes and that a syringe driver was started at 7.45. 
The nursing notes then record the patient was restless, agitated and 
distressed at 11 am and that a Dr was contacted who arranged for a further 
one off dose of 5 mgs of Diamorphine to be given. He was then seen by a Dr 
who arranged for the Diamorphine in the syringe driver to increase to 60 mgs. 
The medical notes also document these events, that he was very restless on 
the 40 mg Diamorphine of in 24 hours and that he was given 5 mgs 
intramuscularly and thereafter Diamorphine 60 mgs in 24 hours was given in 
the syringe driver. Mr Houghton died at 20.50 on 6th February 1994. 



GMC100912-0010 

The case was brought to the attention of Operation ROCHESTER in 2002 by 
Pamela BYRNE via the NHS helpline. 

As a consequence the case was examined by a team of medical experts in 
geriatrics, palliative care, toxicology, general medicine and nursing. They took 
the view that whilst the care afforded to Mr HOUGHTON was potentially 
negligent that he died of natural causes. 

This view was independently quality assured and agreed by a legal/medical 
lawyer who had access to all of the papers. 

Finally an expert Geriatrician was assigned to this case to make a further 
independent medical and evidential assessment. 

He examined in detail the circumstances surrounding the care and treatment 
of Mr HOUGHTON. 

The expert concluded that Clifford Houghton was a 71 year old gentleman at 
the time of his death, he had ischaemic heart disease, hypertension then 
suffered a devastating stroke in 1991, leaving him severely dependent and 
disabled with a right hemiplegia and severe communication problems. He 
was cared for at home by his wife but started to decline during the autumn of 
1993 and had several admissions to the Gosport War Memorial Hospital, 
mainly to support his wife. Following a further event ( a Transient Ischemic 
Attack) and decline at the end of January 2004, he is readmitted to the 
Gosport War Memorial Hospital where he deteriorates and dies over 6 days. 

A starting dose of Diamorphine of 10 - 20 mgs in 24 hours in the syringe 
driver might be more commonly used and many would consider that 40 mgs 
was an excessive starting dose. Despite this, the doses used fail to manage 
his symptoms and a further dose of intramuscular sedation is required, given 
at 11 am. The syringe driver is then restarted with 60 mgs of Diamorphine in 
24 hours. This appears to provide adequate symptom control and he dies at 
20.10. The evidence in the notes suggests that this was an appropriate 
therapeutic response to the distressing symptoms being suffered by Mr 
Houghton 

This admission marked the culmination of a progressive decline in his health 
and it is unlikely that any active or invasive measures would have made a 
significant difference to the eventual outcome of his care 

Although the expert Geriatrication also states that :-The lack of detail in the 
medical notes, in particular, lack of a recorded clinical assessment at the time 
of his readmission on 31st January and at the time of a significant deterioration 
on 3rd February 1994 make it difficult to fully assess the problems suffered by 
Mr Houghton and the reasons for his final decline and death. However, I 
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believe that the symptomatic response to his terminal illness was appropriate 
and that his death was by natural causes. 



GMC100912-0012 

Operation Rochester. 

Medical assessment in respect of Category 3A cases. 

Overview Norma WINDSOR. 

Mrs Windsor lived with her husband in a house in Gosport. They had just sold 
this and were hoping to move to a bungalow. They had 3 daughters. Mrs 
Windsor was deaf in her left ear and wore a hearing aid. 
Mrs Windsor was admitted to the EWGH for respite care and gastroenteritis 
after collapsing. She was transferred to the Gosport War Memorial Hospital 
on 27th April 2000 for ’build up’ and was then transferred to the St Mary’s 
General Hospital where she died on 7th May 2000. 

Cause of death was recorded as Cardiogenic Shock, Ischaemic Heart 
Disease, and Chronic Lymphatic Leukaemia. 

Mrs Windsor had a history going back to an operation in 1979 for duodenal 
ulcer disease. In 1998 she was noted to have an abnormal blood count with 
lymphadenopathy, was referred for a haematological opinion and an original 
diagnosis of chronic lymphatic leukaemia was made. In 1998 she had been 
admitted to hospital acutely with a myocardial infarction, had a positive 
exercise test and was referred for an angiogram in May 1999. In the 
meantime she had a bone marrow which confirmed chronic lymphatic 
leukaemia with lymph node involvement. 

In 2000 a cardiologist decided that despite her severe coronary artery 
disease, she was not fit for surgery because of "a high chance of thrombosis 
and stroke". In 2000 she is diagnosed to have a post nasal drip. 

In early 2000 she was seen in the Gastrointestinal clinic having been referred 
from the haematologist because of a fall in haemoglobin. It is decided to do 
further investigations for possible blood loss and an upper GI endoscopy and 
colonoscopy are booked. Around the same time, she has further 
haematological investigation and a second bone marrow and she is now 
thought to have a follicular lymphoma rather than pure chronic lymphatic 
leukaemia. In March 2000 she is on Prednisolone and Chlorambucil and is 
noted to be significantly more cheerful. On the 18th April the booked upper 
and lower gastro intestinal investigations are performed. Her blood pressure 
is 135/70 prior to the investigations and the two documented blood pressures 
after are 85/48 and 100/60. She is also noted to be breathless at rest but 
discharged home. The investigations are reported as showing no significant 
abnormality, apart from a hiatus hernia. Finally her creatinine on 22n~ March 
was normal at 100 micro mls per litre. 
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She is admitted into a GP bed by her GP Dr Knapman on 27th April and the 
medical notes state that she has weakness, exhaustion and depression and a 
recent bout of diarrhoea and vomiting (514). Her previous past medical 
history is noted as is her medication of Citalopram, Isosorbide Mononitrate, 
Aspirin, Nitrolingual Spray, Quinapril and Atenolol. No examination is 
recorded and the plan is stated to be two weeks to help regain her usual state 
of health. 

On 28th April she is seen by the GP Dr Knapman and her blood pressure is to 
be monitored. However, there are no medical notes that day and no further 
medical notes to the 2nd May. The nursing notes on 29th May document a 
blood pressure of 100/60 and that there had been diarrhoea 3 times that 
morning. On 30th she continued to have offensive stools, feeling unwell, cold, 
clammy to the touch, feels hot. She was light headed and standing blood 
pressure of 90/50, a pulse of 68 and temperature of 36. 

On 5th May she is unwell at 10.30 am, cold and clammy, blood pressure 
unrecordable, weak and thready pulse, her GP is called and comes at 11.50 
am. He records that her blood pressure is low at between 80-90/40-50 and 
asks for her to be transferred to St. Mary’s Hospital. However it is not until 
17.39 that a bed becomes available. 

She arrives at St Mary’s Hospital at 18.45 is cold, clammy and dyspnoeic. 
The on-call medical team is asked to see her urgently at 19.30; the 
examination finds that she is in extremis, pulse 120, no recordable blood 
pressure and signs of a large right pleural effusion. A chest x-ray confirms a 
massive right pleural effusion. The diagnosis is thought to be a combination 
of septic shock and a large pleural effusion; she is in acute renal failure. She 
is severely acidotic and passes a large mucus stool, is resuscitated and finally 
a decision is made for transfer to ITU. 

During the course of 6th May she is treated with very intensive medical 
treatment and at first there is a small improvement in cardiac output. 
However, she deteriorates later in the day, the family are spoken to at 10.30 
and she is then put on a ventilator for respiratory distress. 

She finally dies of cardiogenic shock at 02.55 on 7th May. 

This case was brought to the attention of Operation Rochester in October 
2002 by Mrs Margaret WARD (daughter) via the NHS Helpline. 

As a consequence the case was examined by a team of medical experts in 
geriatrics, palliative care, toxicology, general medicine and nursing. They took 
the view that whilst the care afforded to Mrs WINDSOR was potentially 
negligent that she died of natural causes. 

This view was independently quality assured and agreed by a legal/medical 
lawyer who had access to all of the papers. 

Finally an expert Geriatrician was assigned to this case to make a further 
independent medical and evidential assessment. 

2 
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He examined in detail the circumstances surrounding the care and treatment 
of Mrs WINDSOR and concluded that at the time of her death she was a 69 
year old lady who suffered from ischaemic heart disease with a proven 
myocardial infarction, follicular lymphoma and chronic lymphatic leukaemia, 
problems with her gastrointestinal symptom and finally a massive pleural 
effusion developing shortly before her death. 

Her GP admits her to the Gosport War Memorial Hospital on the 24th April 
2000 where a clinical examination is either not undertaken or not recorded. 
She is recorded as being persistently hypotensive and unwell by the nursing 
staff over a number of days until her final admission on 5th May to St. Mary’s 
Hospital. At that time she is very seriously ill and despite active and 
appropriate intensive care dies shortly after. A major problem in assessing 
this case is the poor documentation in Gosport Hospital, in particular in the 
medical notes making a retrospective assessment of her progress difficult. 
The lack of documentation of examination possibly undertaken at the Gosport 
War Memorial Hospital or accurate information on changes in her clinical 
status represents poor clinical practice. However, I believe her death was by 
natural causes. 
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OP Rochester..Gosport War Memorial Investigation. Page 1 of 2 

From: i ...................... . .C_._o._d...e_._A_ ....................... 

Sent: 28 July 2006 12:23 

To: ’david.williams@hampshire.pnn.police.uk’ 

cc: .i ................................ ................................ 
Subject: RE: OP Rochester..Gosport War Memorial Investigation. 

Dear Det Supt Williams 

Thank you for the update. 

I look forward to receiving a further update once you have met with Treasury Counsel. 

Code A i 

..... Original Message ..... 
david .williams@i ................................................................... _.C_..o._d_.e_..._A_ .................................................................. i=rem; ................................................................................................................................................... 

Sent: 28 Jul 2006 12:11 

I::¢-" kathEn.robinsoni ............................................................ -~S~I-~~ ............................................................. 

..L ................................................................................................... r .............................. J 
Code A , ~ve.groc~_~"    -"~’~"~ ~* ............. j 

David.Horsley@i.     Code A 
Subje~: OP Rochester..Gosport War Memorial Investigation. 

Dear~ .......................................................................................................................................................... Code A ] David 

HORSLEY(H.M.Coroner) 

Please find attached a family group update letter that I am sending today to relatives 
of the 10 remaining cases under investigation. 

<<Operation ROCHESTER Family Group Update 28/7/2006.>> 

All files have now been forwarded to the CPS and I am meeting with Treasury 
Counsel next week Wednesday the 2nd August to discuss the outcome. 

We have also been interviewing (under caution)a consultant Geriatrician Dr Richard 
lan REID in respect of 2 cases (of the 10 above) the deaths of Edith SPURGIN and 
Geoffrey PACKMAN. The final interview with Dr REID is being held on 8th August 
2006.. The police investigation into these matters is then essentially complete. 

Once the decision in respect of any prosecution is made ( in my view not all of these 
cases meet the standard of evidence required to prosecute criminally and the public 
interest hurdle remains to be addressed) then we will need to get together to discuss 
further disclosure to the GMC and NMC. 

I spoke with Dr BARTON’s legal rep [.~_~_~_~.~.~~_~_-..._-~_._~ last week, he confirmed that Dr 
BARTON was still adhering to the voluntary agreement not to prescribe Opiates and 
Benzodiazepines.. She has however now taken a senior practice partner position at 
her surgery.. 

I will be in touch post 2nd August to discuss the way forward.. It may be appropriate 
to pull all stakeholders together to talk this through including the local Portsmouth 

25/04/2007 
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Coroner Mr David HORSLEY. 

Regards.. 

Dave WILLIAMS Det Sup.t.. 

This electronic message contains information from Hampshire Constabulary which may be legally privileged and confidential. 
Any opinions expressed may be those of the individual and not necessarily the Hampshire Constabulary. 

The information is intended to be for the use of the individual(s) or entity named above. If you are not the intended recipient, be 
aware that any disclosure, copying, distribution or use of the contents of the information is prohibited. If you have received this 
electronic message in error, please notify us by telephone 

+44 (0) 845 045 45 45 or email to postmaster@hampshire.pnn.police.uk immediately. Please then delete this email and destroy 
any copies of it. 

All communications, including telephone calls and electronic messages 

to and from the Hampshire Constabulary may be subject to monitoring. Replies to this email may be seen by employees other 
than the intended recipient. 

25/04/2007 
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From: i ..................................... @-S~-~. ..................................... ] 

Sent: 13 November 2006 12:39 

To: 

i Code A Cc: ~ ............................................................ i 

Subject: FW: Operation Rochester- Gosport War Memorial Investigation 

*** B~l~bre acting on this email or opening an)’ att~chment you are advised to read the Everst~eds 

dis’claimer at the end of this email *** 

Code 

Please find attached the response from Hampshire Police. We’ll familiarise ourselves fully with the papers 
you’ve sent through so that we know the types of documents we’ve got, then we can make tracks on this as 
soon as you give the go ahead. 

Kind Regards 

Code A i 

From: david.williams@j ................................................................... ~~-~-~ .................................................................. . 
Sent: 13 November 20b-6-~2.~ ....................................................................................................................................... 
To:! ...... ._C...o_d_.e_...A_ ...... 
Subject: RE: Operation Rochester - Gosport War Memorial ~nvestigation 

Code Ai 

’Pl-~ia-g@-"find attached a list of patients whose case files still sit with CPS awaiting decision.. 
I am informed that counsel has completed his advice and that the papers sit with the CPS 
lawyer who is considering his decision.. 
I am awaiting confirmation of a meeting with CPS to discuss the decision week 
commencing Monday 20th November.. 
Once the decision has been made the families will be notified first.. 
We will then be calling a stakeholder meeting to discuss the way forward.. 
David WILLIAMS 
Detective Superintendent. 

Sent: 06 November 2006 17:03 
To: Williams, David 
Cc:i .......................................................................................CodeA 
$~bjecL: Operation Rochester - Gosport War Memorial Investigation 

*** B~[bre acting o~~ this’ email or ope~fing any attachment you are advised to read the Ew~rsheds 
disclaimer at the end ql"lhis ernail *** 

Please see attached letter. 

********* This email is sent fi~r and on behalf of Eversheds LLP ********* 

Eversheds LLt:’ is a limited liabilfly.parttzers’hip, registered in Englamt and Wcdes, registered 
.... ~.namr tlouse, &~ Queen ~:;%toria ~treet, Lomh~ EC4V 4JL. number 0C304065, registered ~?ffice q’ ~ ’ .... ’ ’ 

Regulated by the Law ,%oleO’. A list (#f lhe members’ names and their pr{{/M’siotzal qual{/icalions is 

25/04/2007 
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available fi)r i~tspection at the above 

Conj~’Mentiality: 7his email and it;s" attachments are intendedJbr the above t~amed only and moo.~ be 

confidential, tf they have come to you in error you muxt take no action based on them, nor must you 

copy or show them to anyone: please reply m this email and highlight the error. 

SecuriO, Warning,: Please note that this email has bee~ created in the knowledge that [nternet emait 

is not a ] 00% secure communications medium. IVe advise that you underxtand and observe this lack 

of security when emailing us. 

Viruses: Although we have taken steps to e~,sure that this email and attachments are J?ee./kom a~y 

v#’us, we ath~’ise that in keeping with good comt)uting practice the recipient shouM ensure th~3" are 

actually virus,/kee. 

************* [http://www.eversheds.corn~_] ************* 

This electronic message contains information from Hampshire Constabulary which may be legally 
privileged and confidential. Any opinions expressed may be those of the individual and not 
necessarily the Hampshire Constabulary. 

The information is intended to be for the use of the individual(s) or entity named above. If you are 
not the intended recipient, be aware that any disclosure, copying, distribution or use of the contents 
of the information is prohibited. If you have received this electronic message in error, please notify 
us by telephone 

+44 (0) 845 045 45 45 or email to postmaster@hampshire.pnn.police.uk immediately. Please then 
delete this email and destroy any copies of it. 

All communications, including telephone calls and electronic messages 

to and from the Hampshire Constabulary may be subject to monitoring. Replies to this email may be 
seen by employees other than the intended recipient. 

This email is sent for and on behalf of Eversheds LLP *~~***** 

Eversheds LLP is a limited liabiliO’ partnership, registered in England and l~’ales, reL4stered 
number 0C304065, registered (~[]ice Senator House, 85 Queen l~Tctoria Street. Lomhm EC’4V 4JL. 
Regulated by the Law SocieO’. A list (?f the members’ names and the#’ pr(?[bssiona/ qual~[ications is 
available jbr inspection at the above qffice. 

Confidentiafity: This email and its attachments are intended Jot the above named only and may be 
con.fidentiaL If th~9~ have come to you in error you must take no action based on them, nor must you 
copy or show them to anyone; please reply io this emaiI and highlight the error. 
Security Warning: Please note that this email has been created in the knowlet~e that Internet email 
is nora t00% secure communications medium. We ach,ise that you understand a~d observe this lack 
t(’securi¢y when emailing us. 
Viruses: Although we have taken steps to ensure that this email and altachments are.fi’ee J?om 
virus, we advise that in keeping with good computing practice the recipient should ensure they are 
actually virus f’ee. 

25/04/2007 
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Operation ROCHESTER. 

Case-file submission dates. 

Elsie DEVINE - 24.12.2004. 

Elsie LAVENDER- 18.05.2005. 

Leslie PITTOCK- 18.05.2005. 

Ruby LAKE - 17.11.2005. 

Arthur CUNNINGHAM - 17.11.2005. 

Robert WILSON - 14.06.2006. 

Enid SPURGIN - 14.06.2006. 

Geoffrey PACKMAN - 27.06.2006. 

Helena SERVICE - 27.07.2006. 

Sheila GREGORY - 27.07.2006. 

+ Generic witness statements/case-file exhibits/medical note 
translations/glossary of terms. 

DW. 
Det Supt 
01.08.2006. 
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Operation ROCHESTER. 
Summary of expert evidence. 
Ten cases of alle.qed ne.qli.qence. 
6th June 2006. 

Overview. 

Operation ROCHESTER is an investigation into 92 deaths of elderly Gosport 
War Memorial Hospital patients between 1988 and 2000. 

It follows allegations initially made in 1998 that the death of patients was 
being hastened through the inappropriate and excessive administration of 
Diamorphine ~n many cases delivered by way of syringe driver. 

Recent expert evidence raises further significant concerns in a small number 
of cases that the care afforded to patients was ’negligent’ to a point that it 
contributed ’more than minimally’ towards the death of the patient. These 
matters continue to be investigated as potential homicides. 

Following police investigation in 2001/2 files of evidence were placed before 
the Crown Prosecution Service in respect of the death of five patients, 
Cunningham, Richards, Wilkie, Wilson and Page, the common denominator 
being that prior to death Diamorphine was prescribed by Dr Jane BARTON. 
CPS determined on 28th November 2002 that there was ’no reliable evidence 
that the named patients were unlawfully killed’. 

The police investigation was resurrected in September 2002 following 
concerns raised by nursing staff around similar issues (the alleged excessive 
use of Diamorphine) 

Subsequent enquiries revealed concerns raised by family members and 
healthcare professionals in respect of the standard of care afforded to 92 
patients. 

The patients medical case notes were recovered and reviewed by a team of 
medical experts (known as the key clinical team) in the fields of toxicology, 
general medicine, palliative care, geriatrics and nursing. 

The cases were effectively ’categorised’ as follows. 

Cateqory 1. (19 cases) No concerns. Optimal care delivered. The family 
members in respect of these cases have been informed that no further police 
action will be taken. 
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Cate.qory 2. (59 cases) ’Concerns’ exist in that the medical team of experts 
assessed the care of these patients as ’sub optimal’. However, these cases 
have not been raised to the status of ’negligent’, and as such it is highly 
unlikely that there will be any further police investigation into the particular 
circumstances. The family members have been informed of the category of 
the deceased and a summary of the care provided and attendant 
circumstances of death, by a legal/medico lawyer quality assuring the findings 
of the clinical team. Additionally the relevant category 2 case-file papers and 
medical notes have been forwarded to the GMC and Nursing and Midwifery 
counsel for their attention. Family members have been informed that these 
cases have been released from police investigation upon the basis that the 
criminal standard of proof could not be met. 

Cate.qory 3. (14 cases) The medical team have assessed the care delivered in 
these cases as ’negligent.’ 

In four of the cat/3 cases however the death of the patients has been 
confirmed to be through ’natural causes’. These cases are shortly (June 
2006) to be released from criminal investigation and forwarded to the GMC 
and NMC who no doubt will look to explore the potential ’negligence’ issues. 

There remain ten category 3 cases that have been assessed as ’negligent 
care’ with the cause of death being ’unclear’. It is in these cases that a full 
police investigation has been conducted including the statementing of all 
relevant healthcare staff involved in the care of the patient prior to death, 
expert witness review of medical notes and geriatric and palliative care 
assessment, family group member statements, and interviews with healthcare 
staff under criminal caution. 

It is anticipated that case-files in respect of all of these cases will have been 
passed to the CPS for their final consideration by 9th June 2006 or 
thereabouts (files have been submitted incrementally since December 2004). 

This document provides an overview of these cases by summarising the initial 
findings of the multi-disciplinary team and the expert ’evidential’ witnesses. 

Arthur CUNNINGHAM. 
¯ Clinical team assessment - Negligent, medication possibly 

contributing towards cause of death bronchopneumonia. 
¯ Palliative expert - Appropriate levels of medication under the 

circumstances. 
¯ Geriatric expert - Appropriate management for terminal illness. 

Elsie DEVINE. 
¯ Clinical team assessment - Negligent, cause of death unclear 

and use of opioids questionable. 
¯ Palliative expert- Doubt that patient had entered terminal phase, 

drugs excessive in any event. Recommends renal expert to 
assess whether terminal. 
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¯ Geriatric expert - Suggests irreversible kidney pathology. Drugs 
administered at a level higher than conventional guidance 
however terminally ill and appeared to receive good palliation for 
symptoms. 

¯ Consultant Nephrologist - Worsening severe renal failure, 
possible to stabilise but prognosis death inevitable. 

Sheila 
¯ 

GREGORY. 
Clinical team assessment - Negligent care, admitted for rehab 
for fractured neck of femur, no antibiotics given for chest 
infection. 
Palliative expert - Natural decline into terminal phase dose of 
diamorphine unlikely to be excessive. 
Geriatric expert - Admitted with a number of serious chronic 
diseases, satisfied death of natural causes. 

Elsie LAVENDER. 
¯ Clinical team assessment - Suffered head injury or brain stem 

stroke, forms of analgesia other than diamorphine may have 
helped. A worrying five fold escalation when converting from 
morphine to diamorphine might have contributed towards death. 

¯ Palliative expert - Excessive doses of diamorphine and 
midazolam administered ultimately could have contributed more 
than minimally towards death. Reasonable doubt that patient 
had reached terminal phase and decline may have been 
reversible with appropriate treatment. 

¯ Geriatric expert - Failure to make proper assessment of multiple 
medical problems but likely to be entering terminal phase of life. 
Excessive doses of diamorphine and midazolam likely to cause 
respiratory depression. Cannot say beyond all reasonable doubt 
that life shortened. 

Enid SPURGIN. 
¯ Clinical team assessment- Admitted following fractured hip, 

very high starting dose of diamorphine probably contributing 
towards death. No evidence of specialist consultation. 

¯ Palliative expert- Mrs SPURGIN not anticipated to be dying, 
doctors failed to adequately assess condition, symptoms in 
keeping with potentially reversible septicaemia/toxaemia. 
Exposed to inappropriate doses of diamorphine and midazolam 
that would have contributed more than minimally towards death. 

¯ Geriatric expert - Prognos~s generally poor for fractures in the 
elderly. A number of areas of poor clinical practice in this case 
including lack of medical assessment, poor documentation and 
considering alternative analgesic regimes. High starting dose of 
diamorphine however unable to satisfy that death hastened by 
anything other than a short time (hours). 

¯ Orthopaedic expert - Suffered relatively complex hip fracture, 
significant bleed into thigh post operatively, of grave concern 
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that no further action can be identified in relation to a potentially 
serious and reversible diagnosis. 

o Robert WILSON. 
¯ Clinical team assessment - Admitted fracture left humerus, liver 

and kidney problems due to alcohol. Death presumably from an 
overdose of opiates in a man with poor opiate metabolism and 
reduced tolera nce. 

¯ Palliative expert- Multiple alcohol related problems, increases in 
diamorphine difficult to justify and likely to be excessive for 
needs, however difficult to state with certainty whether doses 
contributed more than minimally towards death. 

¯ Geriatric expert - Oramorphine dose not an appropriate clinical 
response to pain. Formed a major contribution toward clinical 
deterioration, the treatment negligent and more than minimally 
contributed towards the death of Mr WILSON. 

¯ Clinical governance expert- Mr WILSON suffered liver 
dysfunction and probably heart failure but the initiation of opiate 
medication an important factor leading to death. Might have left 
hospital alive had he not been commenced on opiate 
medication. 

¯ Gastroenterology expert - An unwell man whose life expectancy 
short but no attempt appears to have been made to justify the 
use of opiates in this ’at risk’ patient group. Died of acute 
chronic (but reversible) liver failure precipitated by opiate 
medication. 

Leslie 
¯ 

PITTOCK. 
Clinical team assessment - deteriorating physical and mental 
health, probably opiate toxic; cause of death unclear, opiates 
could have contributed. 
Palliative expert - medical notes inadequate, pain not 
appropriately assessed, Opioids not appropriate to alleviate 
anxiety and agitation. Diamorphine excessive to need may 
have contributed more than minimally to death 
Geriatric expert - Mr PITTOCK frail and dependent, at the end 
of chronic disease process of depression drug related side 
effects lasting 20 years. Starting dose of diamorphine 3 times 
greater than dose conventionally applied. Combination of drugs 
likely to have caused excessive sedation and may have 
shortened life by hours/days, but not beyond all reasonable 
doubt. Care sub-optimal but could not be proved negligent or 
criminally culpable. 

° Helena SERVICE. 
¯ Clinical team assessment - Old lady with many medical 

problems, diabetes, heart failure, confusion. Upon transfer was 
placed on sedation via syringe driver became less well and 
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diamorphine added, the need unclear and could have 
contributed towards her death. 
Palliative expert - Mrs SERVICE did not appear to be 
experiencing significant pain although opioids are used for 
breathlessness in end stage heart failure. Seek view of 
cardiologist. Not obviously in terminal stage, diamorphine dose 
excessive. 
Geriatric expert - Patient recorded as having long standing 
congestive heart failure. Cause of death multi-factorial. Drug 
doses higher than necessary and may have shortened life by 
hours, but not beyond all reasonable doubt. 

Geoffrey PACKMAN. 
¯ Clinical team assessment- died of gastrointestinal bleed, not 

taken seriously and treated with opioids. Cause of death 
natural but potentially treatable and medical care terrible. 

¯ Gastroenterology expert - Limited medical assessment to 
bleed, managed by escalating doses of opiate analgesia. 
Transfer for endoscopic therapy should have been 
considered. Apparently no attempt to ascertain why patient 
had become so unwell. 

¯ Palliative expert - Transferred to dryad ward for 
rehabilitation. Inappropriate management of gastrointestinal 
haemorrhage together with exposure to unjustified and 
inappropriate doses of diamorphine and midazolam 
contributed more than minimally to death. 

¯ Geriatric expert - High risk patient, further bleed does not 
lead to medical attention, difficult clinical decision made 
without involvement of senior medical opinion, higher than 
conventional starting dose of diamorphine used without 
justification in notes. Despite the above deficiencies probably 
made little difference to outcome and died of natural causes. 

10. Ruby LAKE 
¯ Palliative expert - Mrs Ruby Lake was a frail 84 year old who 

was admitted to hospital having fallen and fractured her left 
hip on 5th August 1998. This was surgically repaired and 
she had a difficult post-operative course due to events 
associated with her pre-existing heart and kidney problems, 
leading to heart failure, atrial fibrillation and renal impairment, 
along with a chest infection and episodic confusion/agitation 
at night. Apart from these episodes of pain, Mrs Lake 
appeared to be progressing rather than deteriorating whilst 
awaiting transfer to Gosport War Memorial Hospital and had 
begun to mobilise. Mrs LAKE not provided a good standard 
of care, poor notes make it difficult to understand her rapid 
deterioration. It is possible that her physical state had 
deteriorated in a temporary or reversible way and that with 
appropriate medical care she would have recovered. 
Reasonable doubt exists that she had entered her terminal 
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phase, and she was exposed to doses of midazolam and 
diamorphine that could have contributed more than minimally 
towards her death. 
Geriatric expert - Ruby Lake was an 84-year-old lady with a 
number of chronic diseases, she suffered a fall and a 
fractured neck of femur in August 1998. She was admitted 
to hospital and had operative treatment but developed post- 
operative complications including chest infection, chest pain 
and confusion at night and subsequently deteriorated and 
died in the Gosport War Memorial Hospital. The combination 
of a lack of a documented clinical examination, the lack of 
prescription of appropriate ora analgesia on admission to 
Gosport, the decision to start a syringe driver without 
documentation of a clinical diagnosis or the reason for it in 
the medical notes, together represent a negligent standard of 
medical care._lt is impossible from the notes to determine the 
cause of death and a Coroner’s Post Mortem should have 
been held. Without a proven diagnosis, it is possible that the 
combination of Diamorphine and Midazolam together with 
the Hyoscine in a syringe driver contributed in part to Mrs 
Lake’s death. However the expert is unable to satisfy 
himself to the standard of beyond reasonable doubt that it 
made more than a minimal contribution. 

Wider expert case summaries. 

Clinical Team assessment. 
1. Arthur CUNNINGHAM. 79. Died 26tn September 1998 five days after 
admission to Gosport War Memorial Hospital, suffering Parkinson’s disease, 
dementia, myelodysplasia, admitted from a nursing home with ’difficult 
behaviour’. 
Admitted from day hospital with a large necrotic sacral sore which would have 
been painful but the reasons quoted for starting the diamorphine/midazolam 
infusion were related to behaviour. 
No mention of pain on the 25tn and 26th September but the dose of 
Diamorphine was increased on both days. 
Cause of death was ’Bronchopneumonia’ although the medication might have 
contributed to it. Several doctors involved in care and a rapid escalation of 
Diamorphine and high doses of Midazolam were administered. 

Palliative expert There appears little doubt that Mr Cunningham was 
’naturally’ coming to the end of his life. His death was in keeping with a 
progressive irreversible physical decline, documented over at least 10 days by 
different clinical teams, accompanied in his terminal phase by a 
bronchopneumonia. Dr Barton could be seen as a doctor who, whilst failing to 
keep clear, accurate, and contemporaneous patient records had been 
attempting to allow Mr Cunningham a peaceful death, albeit with what 
appears to be an apparent lack of sufficient knowledge, illustrated, for 
example, by the reliance on large dose range of diamorphine by syringe driver 
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rather than a fixed dose along with the provision of smaller ’as required’ doses 
that would allow Mr Cunningham’s needs to guide the dose titration. 

Dr Barton could also be seen as a doctor who breached the duty of care she 
owed to Mr Cunningham by failing to provide treatment with a reasonable 
amount of skill and care. This was to a degree that disregarded the safety of 
Mr Cunningham by unnecessarily exposing him to potentially receiving 
excessive doses of diamorphine. 

In the event, however, such large doses were not administered, and in the 
experts opinion, the use of diamorphine, midazolam and hyoscine in these 
doses could be seen as appropriate given Mr Cunningham’s circumstances. 

Geriatric expert - Mr Arthur Cunningham a 79 year-old gentleman, suffered 
from long-standing Parkinson’s disease with multiple complications followed 
by a fairly rapid decline in health leading to his first admission to the Gosport 
War Memorial Hospital on 21st July, 1998 and a final admission 21st 
September, 1998. 

He received terminal care including subcutaneous Diamorphine and 
Midazolam through a syringe driver and died on 26th September 1998. The 
expert opinion is: 

Arthur Cunningham is an example of complex and challenging problems in 
geriatric medicine. He suffered from multiple chronic diseases and gradually 
deteriorated with increasing medical and physical dependency. It is always a 
challenge to clinicians to identify the point at which to stop trying to deal with 
each individual problem or crisis, to an acceptance that the patient is dying 
and that symptom control is appropriate. 

Mr Cunningham was managed appropriately, including the decision to start a 
syringe driver for managing his symptoms and agitation as part of his terminal 
illness in September 1998. 

The experts one concern is the increased dose of Diamorphine in the syringe 
driver on 25th and 26th September 1998. The expert was unable to find any 
justification for this increase in dosage in either the nursing or the medical 
notes. This increase in medication may have slightly shortened life for at 
most no more than a few hours to days. However the expert was not able to 
find evidence to satisfy that this is to the standard of ’beyond reasonable 
doubt’. 

Clinical team assessment. 

2. Elsie DEVINE. 88 died 21s~ November 1999 32 days after admission to 
Gosport War Memorial Hospital. She had suffered multi-infarct dementia, 
moderate/chronic renal failure and paraproteinaemia. She had been 
occasionally aggressive and restless being prescribed thioridazine for this. 
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When she became more agitated, she was started on fentanyl, and then 
converted to large doses of diamorphine and midazolam via a syringe driver. 
Pain was not raised as an issue. Cause of death (chronic renal failure) is not 
clear and the use of opiods questionable, especially when considering doses. 
An issue over whether or not she was dying before given Fentanyl which was 
inappropriately prescribed for sedation. 

Palliative expert- 

Mrs Devine was a frail 88yr old with significant medical problems. 

A fentanyl transdermal patch was commenced for an unspecified reason. The 
foltowing day Mrs DEVINE became more confused and agitated. An injection 
of chlorpromazine was given and a syringe driver started one hour later 
containing diamorphine and midazolam. She died 2 days ater. 

The medical care provided by Dr BARTON was sub optimal, there was a 
failure to keep clear accurate and contemporaneous patient records, there 
was an inadequate assessment of Mrs DEVINES condition, treatment’s were 
prescribed that appeared excessive for her needs. 

In particular the prescription of fentanyl and diamorphine appear unjustified 
and/or excessive for Mrs DEVINES needs. 

The use of chlorpromazine and midazolam appears justifiable on the grounds 
of Mrs DEVINES confusion, but the doses used were excessive for her needs. 

There is a reasonable doubt that she had definitely entered her terminal 
stage. 

If it were that Mrs DEVINE had naturally entered the terminal phase of her life 
at best Dr BARTON could be seen as a doctor who whilst failing to keep clear 
accurate and contemporaneous patient records had in good faith been 
attempting to allow a peaceful death, albeit with what appears to be 
inappropriate and excessive use of medication due to a sufficient lack of 
knowledge. 

At worst DR BARTON could be seen as a doctor who breached the duty of 
care she owed to Mrs DEVINE, by failing to provide treatment with a 
reasonable amount of skill and care. 

This was to a degree that disregarded the safety of Mrs DEVINE by 
unnecessarily exposing her to inappropriate and excessive doses of 
medications as with the fentanyl which could have resulted in a worsening of 
her agitation and confusion. 

Dr BARTON’S response to this was to further expose Mrs DEVINE to 
inappropriate and/or excessive aoses of midazolam and diamorphine that 
could have contributed more than minimally negligibly or trivially to her death. 
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As a result Dr BARTON lays herself open to the accusation of gross 
negligence. 

Mrs DEVINES death was not typical of patients dying from chronic renal 
failure. 

Mrs DEVINE was incorrectly labelled as having ’myeloma’ in the admission 
notes, this mistake is important if it influenced how the patient was managed 
eg deterioration could be incorrectly considered an ’expected’ irreversible 
terminal event due to her cancer like condition. 

It is difficult to endorse prescribing action morphine on the day of transfer that 
results in the use of an above average dose of a strong opioid as a first line 
analgesic in a frail elderly patient(against company prescribing advice). 
Medication was excessive even if it were considered she was dying of natural 
causes. 

Increasing doses of opioids excessive to a patients needs are also associated 
with an increasing risk of delirium, nausea and vomiting and respiratory 
depression. Once unresponsive and not drinking Mrs DEVINES renal function 
would decline further. 

In the absence of pain shortness of breath or cough in my view there is no 
justification for the use off diamorphine by syringe driver. 

A starting dose of 5-10mg a day would have been more appropriate. 

Geriatric expert- 

This case presents as an example of the most complex and challenging 
problems in geriatric medicine. 

Physicians including a renal physician and a haematologist all conclude that 
she suffered from a progressive problem with no easily treatable or remedial 
cause, the small kidneys shown on ultrasound usually suggest irreversible 
kidney pathology. 

The mental health team describe increasing confusion and mental 
deterioration over the course of the year. 

The major problem in deciding whether care is sub -optimal is the lack of 
documentation. 

The drug management was sub-optimal, there was no apparent justification 
for the Diamorphine to be written up prn on admission to Gosport. 

The logic for the prescription of Fentanyl is not explained. 
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There was a three hour overlap, between the prescription of the 
subcutaneous Diamorphine and Midazolam and the removal of the Fentanyl 
patch. 

The starting doses of both Midazolam and Diamorphine were higher than 
conventional guidance, which may have shortened her life by a short period of 
time, this would have no more than hours to days ( but she was also out of 
distress for the last 58hrs) 

However she was terminally ill and appeared to receive good palliation of her 
symptoms. 

It is not clear whether any advice was sought (by DR BARTON) from the 
consultant legally responsible for the care of this patient (DR REID) in respect 
of the administration of Fentanyl on 18th November 1999. 

In my opinion on 19th November patient was terminally ill, on balance many 
clinicians would come to the same conclusion after a month in hospital. 

In my view the death certificate would appropriately say acute renal failure, 
chronic glonerulonephritis, paraproteinemia and dementia. 

The prediction of how long a terminally ill patient will live is virtually 
impossible, and even palliative experts show an enormous variation. 

Whilst her care was sub-optimal I cannot prove it to be negligent or criminally 
culpable. 

I am not able to say that the use of Fentanyl, Diamorphine and Midazolam 
were prescribed with the intention of deliberately shortening her life or had the 
definite effect of shortening her life in more than a minor fashion. 

Expert Consultant Nephrologist- 

Mrs DEVINE was admitted as an emergency to hospital with an acute 
confusional state for which no other cause other than multi-infarct dementia 
and severe renal impairment could be found. 

After a period of stabilisation, her clinical condition worsened with severe 
renal failure and worsening agitation and restlessness. 

Although it may have been possible to stabilise her condition with relatively 
simple measures, this would not have materially changed her prognosis as 
death was inevitable. 

]0 
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Clinical team assessment. 

3. Sheila GREGORY. 91 died 22nd November 1999 81 days after admission 
to Gosport War Memorial Hospital, she had suffered a fractured neck of the 
femur and other medical problems. The original aim was rehabilitation, but 
there was an early entry about keeping her comfortable. There was a 
suggestion of a stroke early in her stay, at GWMH and she deteriorated. The 
decision was made to refer her to Nursing Home for care because she was 
unlikely to improve further. She then deteriorated with distress and 
breathlessness. The staff wondered about a chest infection but did not start 
antibiotics. Oromorph helped the distress and breathlessness, so she was 
started on a reasonably low dose of diamorphine through a syringe driver. 
Frusemide as a diuretic was given in case the breathlessness was due to fluid 
on the lungs. In the end the cause of death was not entirely clear (recorded as 
Bronchopneumonia) Should they have tried antibiotics or explained why they 
were not used? She probably would have died whatever was done from 
15.11.1999. 

Palliative expert - Mrs Gregory’s decline was noted over a number of weeks 
and this would be in keeping with a natural decline into a terminal phase. 
Further, whatever the reason was for the use of diamorphine the physical 
findings on the day of Mrs Gregory’s death would suggest that the dose she 
was receiving was unlikely to have been excessive to the degree that it 
rendered her unresponsive or was associated with respiratory depression. 

Geriatric expert - Sheila Gregory a 91 year old lady with a number of serious 
chronic diseases suffers a fall and fractured neck of femur in August 1999. 
She is admitted to the Haslar Hospital and making little rehabilitation 
progress, with a very poor prognosis she is transferred to the Gosport War 
Memorial Hospital. 

There is some weakness in the documentation of her condition in particular on 
her admission to the Gosport War Memorial Hospital and on the 18th 

November when her definitive final clinical deterioration is documented. If 
clinical examinations were undertaken they have not been recorded. General 
Medical Practice (GMC2001) states that "good clinical care must include 
adequate assessment of the patient’s condition, based on the history and 
symptoms and if necessary an appropriate examination" ..... "in providing 
care you must clear, accurate, legible and contemporaneous patient records 
which must report the relevant clinical findings, the decisions made, the 
information given to patient’s and any drugs or other treatment prescribed". 
The lack of clinical examination both on admission and more important Mrs 
Gregory care, deteriorated represents poor clinical practice to the standards 
set by the General Medical Council. 

Despite the above the expert is satisfied that Mrs Gregory’s death was of 
natural causes and that her overall clinical management in Gosport was just 
adequate. 

]] 
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Clinical team assessment. 

4. Elsie LAVENDER. 83. Died 6th March 1996, 14 days after admission to 
Gosport War Memorial Hospital, she had been suffering head injury or brain 
stem stroke. She had continued pain around the shoulders and arms for 
which the cause was never found. It was possibly musculoskeletal pain from a 
fall downstairs. Other forms of analgesia such as anti-inflammatory drugs or 
hot/cold packs might have worked. The most worrying aspect is the large 
dose escalation when converting morphine to diamorphine via syringe driver 
(Five fold increase). The cause of death is unclear (cerebovascular accident) 
and the dose escalation might have contributed. 

Palliative expert- 

The medical notes were inadequate and the cause and treatment of Mrs 
LAVENDER’S urinary tract infection was not properly assessed/treated. 

The Morphine may have been inappropriate or excessive to the type of pain 
experienced and the possible role this played in her deterioration was not 
considered. Treatments were continued that may have aggravated her 
condition ie the diuretic. 

Excessive doses of diamorphine/midazolam were administered from 26th 
February 1996. 

Blood tests of 27tn February 1996 revealed low platelet count and 
deteriorating kidney function, not reflected in the notes and no action taken, 
not discussed with a consultant or specialist advice. 

On 29th February 1996 no mention made of high blood sugar requiring high 
doses of insulin. No mention of pain in medical notes therefore inconsistent 
with nursing notes. 

No pain assessment recorded against increase in morphine of 4th March 
1996. 

The reported deterioration mentioned in the notes of 5t~ March is not 
explained. 

There is reasonable doubt that Mrs LAVENDER had reached her terminal 
phase. Causes of her decline may have been reversible with appropriate 
treatment. 

Ultimately excessive doses of diamorphine and midazolam could have 
contributed more than minimally trivially or negligibly towards her death, Dr 
BARTON leaves herself open to the accusation of gross negligence. 

Cause of death registered as cerebrovascular accident, validity difficult to 
comment upon but final deterioration does not seem typical of 
cerebrovascular accident, more likely immobility from fall leading to infection. 
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Geriatric expert- 

Patient suffered long standing multiple medical problems, after admission 
found to be doubly incontinent, totally dependent, suffering constant pain to 
shoulders and arms and found to have serious abnormalities in various blood 
tests. 

Increasing physical dependency and increased patient distress. 

Doctors and consultants failed to make adequate medical assessment and 
diagnosis of her condition. 

A belief that Mrs LAVENDER was misdiagnosed and had suffered a 
quadriplegia from a high cervical spinal cord injury secondary to her fall. 

Abnormal b~ood tests could have represented systemic illness such as cancer 
of the bone marrow, the test should have been commented upon by the 
doctor in charge of the case as to their relevance. 

The lack of examination and comment on abnormal blood tests make it 
impossible to assess the care as sub optimal, negligent or criminally culpable. 

It was likely that Mrs LAVENDER had several serious illnesses and was 
entering the terminal phase of her life. 

Mrs LAVENDER received a ’negligent’ medical assessment both at Haslar 
and Gosport War Memorial Hospital, in particular she was not examined on 
admission to Gosport. No medical diagnosis made for pain, which would fit 
with spinal cord fracture. Without appropriate assessment impossible to plan 
appropriate management. 

The two options were to either get further specialist opinion or provide 
palliative care it would have been wise to obtain specialist opinion, probably 
from the consultant in charge of the case. There is no evidence that this was 
done. 

Unusually large dose of diamorphine written up on 26th February 1996, and 
subsequent excessive dose reported on 5th March 1996, together with high 
dose of Midazolam likely to cause excessive sedation and respiratory 
depression. 

However this expert cannot say beyond all reasonable doubt that Mrs 
LAVENDERS life was shortened. 

Clinical team assessment. 

5. Enid SPURGIN.92. Died 12th April 1999 eighteen days after admission to 
Gosport War memorial hospital. She had suffered a fractured hip which had 
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been repaired with a dynamic hip screw. She could get from a bed to a chair 
with the help of 2 nurses before the transfer, and had paracetomal as required 
for pain relief. 

Pain became an issue as soon as she arrived at Dryad. Analgesia was started 
with Oramorph regularly and then regular codydramol and then MST at low 
dose. The dose was increased after continued pain was noted. She had 
deteriorated on the day a syringe driver was started, but she is reported as 
denying pain. Diamorphine was started at 80mg per 24hrs via a syringe 
driver. This is a very high dose 5-6 fold increase. It is not clear who chose this 
dose but the way the drug was prescribed the nurses could have used a dose 
anywhere between 20 to 200 mg a day. It had to be reduced, because she 
was too drowsy and it probably contributed to her death. No evidence of 
consultation with appropriate specialist over the management of her operation 
wound infection. Rapid escalation of opiate dose. Poor drug prescription when 
diamorphine infusion was commenced, nurse could have set up anything from 
a dose of 20-200 mg per day and still been in compliance. 

Palliative expert- 
Mrs Spurgin was a relatively fit and independent 92 year old widow who 
lived alone. Whilst walking her dog, she fell and fractured her right hip 
which was surgically repaired using a dynamic hip screw on the 20th 
March 1999. Within hours of the surgery there was leakage from the 
wound and swelling of her right thigh to twice its normal size, causing 
discomfort and pain on palpation. It was considered most probable that 
she had developed a haematoma due to a bleeding vessel in the wound. 
Pain in Mrs Spurgin’s hip/thigh on movement continued to be a problem 
noted by Dr Reid when he reviewed Mrs Spurgin on the 24th March 1999. 
Surgeon Commander Scott reviewed Mrs Spurgin but no specific 
comment was recorded in the medical notes regarding Mrs Spurgin’s pain, 
no changes were made to her analgesia and on the 26th March 1999 she 
was transferred to Dryad Ward, Gosport War Memorial Hospital. With 
regards to the standard of care proffered to Mrs Spurgin in Haslar 
Hospital, the report of expert orthopaedic surgeon raises several concerns. 

During her admission to Dryad Ward, the medical care provided by Dr 
Barton and Dr Reid was suboptimal: there was a lack of clear, accurate, 
and contemporaneous patient records; inadequate assessment of Mrs 
Spurgin’s condition; a lack of consultation with colleagues to seek 
appropriate advice and support; the use of diamorphine and midazolam 
was in doses excessive to Mrs Spurgin’s needs. 

When Mrs Spurgin became less well, increasingly drowsy, dehydrated, 
agitated, spilling things and had a nightmare there was no medical 
assessment or even sim pie observations documented. 

Mrs Spurgin was not anticipated to be dying and her symptoms and signs 
were in keeping with a potentially reversible septicaemiaJ toxaemia arising 
from an infection (the wound had become tender and inflamed despite the 
antibiotics) __. the effects of increasing blood levels of morphine metabolites 
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due to dehydration. Potentially beneficial treatments (e.g. intravenous 
hydration, reduction in the dose of morphine, different antibiotics) were not 
proffered nor advice obtained from the orthopaedic team or a 
microbiologist. 

Instead a syringe driver containing diamorphine (equivalent to a 4-6 fold 
increase in her morphine dose) and midazolam was commenced. On a 
subsequent review by Dr Reid, as a result of finding Mrs Spurgin 
unresponsive, the diamorphine dose was halved, however the midazolam 
dose was doubled. 

In short, Dr Barton in particular, but also Dr Reid, could be seen as doctors 
who breached the duty of care they owed to Mrs Spurgin by failing to provide 
treatment with a reasonable amount of skill and care. This was to a degree 
that disregarded the safety of Mrs Spurgin by failing to adequately assess her 
condition and taking suitable and prompt action when she complained of pain 
that appeared excessive to her situation and when her physical state 
deteriorated in what was a potentially reversible way. Instead the actions of Dr 
Barton and Dr Reid exposed Mrs Spurgin to the use of inappropriate doses.of 
diamorphine and midazolam that would have contributed more than minimally, 
negligibly or trivially to her death. As a result Dr Barton and Dr Reid leave 
themselves open to the accusation of gross negligence. 

Geriatric expert- 

Mrs Enid Spurgin presents a common problem in geriatric medicine. A very 
elderly lady with a number of chronic conditions is becoming increasingly frail 
and has a fall leading to a proximal femoral fracture. 

The prognosis after such a fracture, particularly in those with impairments of 
daily living before their fracture is generally poor both in terms of mortality or 
morbidity and returning to independent existence. Up to 25% of patients in 
such a category will die shortly after their fracture from many varied causes 
and complications. 

A significant problem in Mrs Spurgins case is the apparent lack of medical 
assessment and lack of documentation at Gosport. Good medical practice, 
’(GMC 2001) states that" good clinical care must include an adequate 
assessment of the patients condition, based on the history and symptoms and 
if necessary, an appropriate examination". .... "in providing care you must 
keep clear, accurate, legible and contemporaneous patient records which 
report the relevant clinical findings, the decisions made, the information given 
to patients and any drug or other treatments provided". "Good clinical care 
must include - taking suitable and prompt action when necessary". ..... 
"referring the patient to another practitioner, when indicated" ...... "in providing 
care you must recognise and work within the limits of your professional 
competence". ..... "prescribe drugs or treatments including repeat 
prescriptions, only where you have adequate knowledge of the patients health 
and medical needs. 
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The expert comments that there are a number of areas of poor clinical 
practice in this case to the standards set by the General Medical Council. The 
lack of a medical assessment, or documentation of that assessment on 
admission to Gosport, the failure to address the cause of this lady’s pain or to 
consider any other actions from 26th March until 7th April, the use of 
Oramorphine on a regular basis from admission without considering other 
possible analgesic regimes. 

Subsequent management of Mrs Spurgin’s pain was within current practice 
with the exception of the starting dose of Diamorphine (80mg in the syringe 
drive is at best poor clinical judgement). However, the expert was unable to 
satisfy beyond reasonable doubt that this high dose of Diamorphine hastened 
death by anything other than a very short period of time (hours). 

Consultant Orthopaedic Sur.qeon- 

Mrs Spurgin suffered a relatively complex hip fracture as a result of her fall on 
March 19th 1999. The decision to operate and the implants and operative 
technique employed were appropriate. The expert was unable to comment on 
the quality of the fixation of the fracture in the absence of radiographic record 
or post mortem findings. 

The patient had a significant bleed into her thigh in the early stages post- 
operatively, and the possibility of compartment syndrome was raised. It is of 
grave concern that no further action can be identified in relation to this 
potentially serious and reversible diagnosis. Consequently, it is not possible 
to confirm that she had a compartment syndrome from the medical record. 

Due consideration of the significance of her symptoms of pain and her inability 
to mobilise was not given consistently at either Haslar or at Gosport War 
Memorial Hospital. Specifically she did not undergo a further x-ray 
examination at either hospital, and she was not referred back to Haslar from 
Gosport War Memorial Hospital. The differential diagnosis should have 
included implant failure and uncontrolled infection. These complications would 
have been reversible. 

Clinical team assessment. 

6. Robert WILSON. 74. Died 18th October 1998 four days after admission to 
Gosport War memorial Hospital, he is recorded as having a high alcohol 
intake and poor nutritional status. He was admitted with a fracture of the left 
humerus. 

During his last days on Dickens ward, he was on regular paracetomal and 
codeine as required needing one dose of codeine most days. On transfer to 
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dryad, he received 2 doses of oramorph and was then put on a moderate 
dose of oramorph every 4 hours with paracetomal as required. Liver and 
kidney problems make the body more sensitive to the effects of oramorph. He 
had both of these problems. He deteriorated, and was converted to a syringe 
driver at a dose, which was a close conversion from the oramorph dose. 

Over the next 2 days the dose was increased without obvious indication. 
Death was presumably from overdose of opiates, in a man with a poor opiate 
metabolism, and reduced tolerance. 

Unless the decision had been taken to treat pain ’regardless’ then this was 
negligent. The initial dose of Morphine was inappropriate in a person with 
known alcoholic liver disease. A rapid increase in body weight was 
documented in notes, with no apparent clinical response. 

Palliative expert - 

Mr Wilson was a 74 year old man who was admitted to hospital after falling 
over and fracturing the greater tuberosity of his left humerus. He had multiple 
serious medical problems; alcohol-related cirrhosis leading to liver failure and 
encephalopathy, heart failure and kidney failure. Other problems included 
early dementia, depression and a high level of dependency 

Although the care he received at Queen Alexander Hospital led to Mr Wilson 
being mentally more alert and returned his kidney function to normal, he 
continued to become increasingly oedematous despite the re-introduction of 
his diuretic therapy which was considered due to heart failure. The pain he 
experienced from his fracture progressively improved as anticipated and 
during his time at Queen Alexander Hospital, his daily analgesic requirements 
reduced from the equivalent of 20mg to 3mg of oral morphine. Nevertheless, 
given the time it takes for a fracture to heal, it was not surprising that pain on 
movement was still present at the time of his transfer. 

There are no concerns regarding the care proffered to Mr Wilson at the 
Queen Alexander Hospital. 

On transfer to Dryad Ward, the care proffered to Mr Wilson by Dr Barton and 
Dr Knapman fell short of a good standard of clinical care as defined by the 
GMC (Good Medical Practice, General Medical Council, July 1998 pages 2-3) 
with particular reference to a lack of clear note keeping, adequate assessment 
of the patient (Dr Barton and Dr Knapman) and providing treatment that could 
be excessive to the patients needs (Dr Barton). 

No pain assessment was carried out on Mr Wilson, but his only regular 
analgesic, paracetamol, was discontinued and prescribed p.r.n. (as required). 
Instead of his usual codeine 15-30mg p.r.n., approximately equivalent to 
morphine 1.5-3mg, he was prescribed morphine 5-10mg p.r.n, for pain relief. 
He received two doses of 10mg (a total of 20mg/24h) and the next day 
commenced on regular morphine 10mg every 4h and 20mg at night. In total 
he received 50mg of morphine in this 24h period, representing a larger dose 
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than that he received in the initial 24h after his fracture. This is against the 
general expectation that pain from a fracture would have been improving over 
time and, without a clearly documented pain assessment, it is difficult to 
justify. However, the impact of this dose of morphine on Mr Wilson is 
impossible to judge because he deteriorated rapidly in the early hours of the 
16th October 1998. 

The nature of his rapid decline and subsequent death were in keeping with 
worsening heart failure with or without a sudden event such as a heart attack. 
This, combined with his liver failure, could easily have precipitated his terminal 
decline. His reduced level of consciousness could have been due to a 
hepatic coma precipitated by the morphine or by a reduced level of blood 
oxygen secondary to the excess fluid on the lungs (pulmonary oedema) due 
to the heart failure. Later that day a syringe driver was commenced 
containing diamorphine 20mg/24h and increased over the next 48h to 
60mg/24h, equivalent to oral morphine 120-180mg/24h. This increase in 
dose appears difficult to justify, as Mr Wilson was not reported to be 
distressed by pain, breathlessness or the secretions and was likely to be 
excessive for his needs. However, because heart and liver failure could also 
have led to a reduced level of consciousness, in my opinion, it is difficult to 
state with any certainty that the doses of morphine or diamorphine he 
received would have contributed more than minimally, negligibly or trivially to 
his death. 

Geriatric expert- 

Mr Robert Wilson a 74 year old gentleman with known severe alcoholic liver 
disease who was admitted with a complex and painful fracture of the left 
upper humerus. His physical condition deteriorates at first in hospital, with 
alteration in mental state, renal impairment and subsequent gross fluid 
retention. He then starts to improve and is transferred to the Gosport War 
Memorial Hospital for further assessment and possible rehabilitation or 
continuing care. He is started on regular oral strong opiate analgesia for pain 
in his left arm and rapidly deteriorates and dies within 5 days of admission. 

There is weakness in the documentation of his condition, in particular on the 
admission to the Gosport War Memorial Hospital on 14th October, and on 
the15th October when the regular oral strong opiate analgesia is commenced. 
If clinical examinations were undertaken they have not been recorded. 
General Medical Practice (GMC2001) states that "good clinical care must 
include adequate assessment of the patient’s condition, based on the history 
and symptoms and if necessary an appropriate examination". .... "in providing 
care you must provide clear, accurate, legible and contemporaneous patient 
records which must report the relevant clinical findings, the decisions made, 
the information given to the patient and any drugs or other treatments 
provided". The lack of clinica examination on admission and on the day of 
15th October when the decision was made to start regular strong oral opiate 
analgesia represents poor clinical practice to the standards set by the General 
Medical Council. 



GMC100912-0041 

It is the expert’s belief that the prescription of a total.of 50 mgs of 
Oramorphine on the 15th October following the 20 mgs that were given on the 
14th October was not an appropriate clinical response to the pain in Mr 
Wilson’s left arm. 

This dose of analgesia formed a major contribution to the clinical deterioration 
that occurred over the 15th-16th October, in particular, his rapid mental state 
deterioration. In the experts view this treatment was negligent, and more than 
minimally contributed to the death of Mr Robert Wilson on 19th October. 

Clinical .qovernance expert. 

Studied the records provided by Hampshire Constabulary in order to consider 
three issues -the certified cause of death, the prescription of opiates and 
sedatives, and whether Mr Wilson fell into the category of patients who might 
have left hospital alive. 

With respect to death certification the expert concluded that the certificate was 
inaccurate in that Mr Wilson did not have renal failure, and had liver 
dysfunction but not failure. He probably did have heart failure, although the 
expert believed the initiation of opiate medication was an important factor in 
leading to death. 

With respect to the prescription of opiate drugs the expert concluded that on 
evidence available, that the initiation of opiate medication on transfer to Dryad 
ward was inappropriate. The expert also concluded that the starting dose was 
too high. The prescription of hyoscine and midazolam was justified by the use 
of o plates. 

With respect to leaving hospital alive, it was concluded that Mr Wilson was in 
the category of patients who might have left hospital alive if he had not been 
commenced on opiate medicate on transfer to Dryad ward. 

In the experts opinion, Mr Wilson had liver dysfunction but not full blown 
failure. His liver dysfunction did not cause death. In the presence of other 
life-threatening conditions, the liver dysfunction may impair the ability to 
recover, and it would have been reasonable to mention on the death 
certificate that Mr Wilson had chronic liver disease. The cause of his liver 
disease - alcohol - was not mentioned on the certificate. 

Mr Wilson did not have renal failure. He did have abnormal blood test 
results after his admission to hospital, but these improved with re- 
hydration. Mr Wilson probably did have cardiac failure. There may have 
been other conditions as well. Haemoglobin estimations during his 
admission to Queen Alexandra Hospital had indicated mild anaemia. If this 
condition had deteriorated, the heart failure would also have become 
worse. However this was rather unlikely since he was being closely 
observed in Queen Alexandra Hospital and signs of increasing anaemia 
would almost certainly have been recognised. Evidence of bleeding would 
have been noted if it had occurred. There is no convincing evidence in the 
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records to confirm a diagnosis of myocardial infarction such as history of 
chest pain, raised cardiac enzymes or ECG evidence. One could also 
speculate about possible occurrence of some unsuspected condition. 

However, despite all these speculations, it has to be acknowledged that 
his decline was associated with the regular administration of morphine, 
and was responded to by administration of diamorphine by syringe driver. 

The reason for commencing Oramorph is not recorded in the medical 
notes [179]; in particular, the reasons for not using a non-opiate drug for 
pain relief are not given. Even if Mr Wilson did have pain from the fracture 
that was not controlled by paracetamol, regular does of 10mg of oral 
morphine would not have been the appropriate treatment. Other non- 
opiate or weak opiate medication should have been used first. If these 
medications had failed to adequately reduce the pain, a low dose of 
morphine (2.5-5mg) as had been used in the early days of his admission 
might have been reasonable. Although Mr Wilson did have congestive 
cardiac failure, therefore his death would have been hastened by opiate 
administration and the path to death may well have been initiated by the 
commencement of Oramorph on 14/10/98. 

It is mportant to note that the general standard of completion of death 
certificates is unsatisfactory. For example, in a review of 1000 counterfoils 
of certificates in one teaching hospital in 1999-2000, only 55% of 
certificates had been completed to a minimally accepted standard (Swift 
and West, 2002). Of the remaining certificates, 25% had incomplete data, 
in 11% the part II section had been used inappropriately, and 9% were 
illogical or inappropriate. In her third report from the Shipman Inquiry, 
Dame Janet Smith observed: A further problem with the current system is 
that the quality of certification is poor. Doctors receive little training in 
death certification. (paragraph 17, page 4, Shipman Inquiry). The standard 
of completion of the death certificate in Mr Wilson’s case should therefore 
be regarded as fairly typical. Although Mr Wilson did not have renal failure, 
the history of recent abnormal renal function tests prompted use of this 
diagnosis; the mention of liver failure was probably a convenient way of 
describing the impaired liver function. 

Consultant Gastroenterologist. 

The management of Mr Wilson’s liver condition following the time of initial 
admission was not perfect but reasonable. He should have received Pabrenex 
to prevent Wernickes’encephalopathy in addition to lactulose to treat hepatic 
encephalopathy. 

Mr Wilson was assessed by a psychogeriatrician who did not detect any of the 
classical signs of Wernickes’ encephalopathy. During most of his admission as 
well Mr Wilson was generally alert and so the omission of lactulose or other 
anti-encephalopathy treatment cannot be cited as a major omission. In real- 
life I suspect Mr Wilson would have refused to take lactulose for presumed 
encephalopathy because of its taste and laxative effects. 

2O 
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Mr Wilson was clearly an un-well man whose life expectancy was short. 
His previous record demonstrates that he would have been likely to return 
to drinking on discharge from hospital. The administration of high doses 
of morphine whilst an in-patient on Dryad however must be considered 
reckless. Warnings about morphine usage in the context of liver disease 
are readily available in standard prescribing guides such as those cited 
from the BNF. No attempt appears to have been made to justify the use of 
opiates in this at risk patient group. There also does not appear to have 
been any attention paid to appropriate dose reduction and/or monitoring 
in Mr Wilson’s case, The outcome was predictable in the clinical context of 
cirrhosis and escalating opiate dosage that Mr Wilson could not have 
survived. 

Mr Wilsons cause of death is given as (1) Congestive Cardiac Failure (2) 
Renal failure and (3) Liver failure, The experts understanding was that this 
was a clinical diagnosis as opposed to a post-mortem finding. 

Congestive cardiac failure was unlikely to be the primary cause of death in Mr 
Wilsons case. Mr Wilson had oedema and the commonest cause for oedema 
is as a consequence of heart failure. However oedema also occurs in cirrhotic 
liver disease and in the experts view this was far more likely cause of oedema 
and ultimate demise than heart failure. 

Mr Wilson had cirrhosis and therefore cause of death (3) ’liver failure’ was 
reasonable. Mr Wilson had signs of chronic liver failure throughout his hospital 
stay including oedema and probable hepatic encephalopathy. The experts 
view is that he died of acute chronic liver failure precipitated by opiate 
medication. 

Renal failure is a common secondary consequence of liver failure. 

While there is limited evidence to support a diagnosis of ’renal failure’ it is a 
common complication of liver disease. Mr Wilson is likely to have had the 
’hepatorenal syndrome.’ This means reversible renal failure as a direct 
consequence of the liver failure. If the liver injury can in some way be 
reversed then the renal failure will correct. 

Clinical Team assessment. 

7. Leslie PITTOCK 82. Died 24th January 1996, 15 days after admission to 
Gosport War Memorial Hospital. He was physically and mentally frail 
deteriorating on a mental health ward. Medical notes state pain in flexed right 
hand. Nursing notes state generalised pain. Arthrotec tried plus oramorph. A 
syringe driver started five days later with a large dose increase when 
converting from oramorph to diamorphine. Notes on the 21st January 1996 
record a respiratory rate of 6 per minute, likely as a reflection of the dose of 
opiates ie he was probably opiate toxic but the dose was not reduced. Cause 
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of death unclear, although he was very frail, but opiates could have 
contributed. 

Palliative expert. 

Medical case-notes inadequate and pain not appropriately assessed. 
Opioids were not appropriate as administered to alleviate anxiety and 
agitation. 

It was not necessary to use a syringe driver (unless the patient unwilling or 
unable to take medicines orally) 

Doses of diamorphine 40-120mgs were excessive to needs of the patient (far 
exceeding appropriate starting dose of 10-15mgs. 

There was little doubt that Mr PI-FIOCK was naturally coming to the end of 
his life. 

At best DR BARTON had attempted to allow a peaceful death, albeit with 
excessive use of diamorphine. 

Experts opinion was that Dr BARTON breached her duty of care, by failing to 
provide treatment with skill and care, it was difficult to exclude completely the 
possibility that a dose of diamorphine that was excessive to his needs and 
may have contributed more than minimally negligibly or trivially to his death. 
Dr BARTON leaves herself open to the accusation of gross negligence. 

Given the nature of Mr PI-I-IOCKS decline, Bronchopneumonia appears to be 
the most likely cause of death. 

Geriatric expert. 

Reports that Mr PI-FIOCK was extremely frail and dependent, and at the end 
of a chronic disease process of depression and drug related side effects 
spanning 20 or more years. 

There was a problem in the expert assessing care due to lack of 
documentation. 

The lack of notes represented poor clinical practice, no written justification for 
high doses of Diamorphine and Midazolam. 

Drug management afforded to the patient was sub-optimal. 

The starting dose of 80mgs of diamorphine was approximately 3 times the 
dose that would conventionally be applied. 
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A combination of higher than standard doses of drugs, Diamorphine, and 
Midazolam combined with Nozinan is likely to have caused excessive sedation 
and may have shortened life by a short period of time, hours to days. 
Whilst care was sub-optimal it could not be proved to be negligent or 
criminally culpable. 

Predictions of how long terminally ill patients live are impossible, even 
palliative care experts show enormous variation. 

Medication is likely to have shortened life but not beyond all reasonable 
doubt. 

Clinical Team assessment. 

8. Helena SERVICE. 99. Died 5th June 1997, two days after admission to 
Gosport War Memorial Hospital. This lady was very old, and had many 
medical problems including diabetes, heart failure, confusion and sore skin. 

She was ’agitated’ in the Queen Alexandra hospital but they accepted it and 
used thioridazine orally. Upon transfer to Gosport War Memorial Hospital, she 
was placed on sedation via a syringe driver at night. She became less well the 
next day and diamorphine was added to the driver (she had not required 
analgesia other than paracetomal at the Q.A.H). Mrs SERVICE died the 
following day. 

Medication could have contributed towards her death, the need for such 
medication was not clear. 

Palliative expert. 

Mrs SERVICE did not appear to be experiencing significant pain although 
opioids are use for breathlessness in end stage heart failure. 

The opinion of a cardiologist should be sought on Mrs Service’s likely 
prognosis, scope for optimising her heart failure therapy and the role of 
opioids in chronic heart failure in 1997. 

On Mrs Service’s first night on Dryad ward she was commenced on a syringe 
driver containing midazolam in a dose sufficient to sedate an elderly patient. 
This in the experts opinion appeared to be an excessive reaction to what is a 
well recognised understandable response of a confused patient to new 
surroundings. Mrs Service was not obviously at her terminal stage but was 
elderly, hard of hearing, confused/prone to confusion, spending her first night 
in a new environment with new staff and her usual night sedation was not 
given. 
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Subsequently the increase in midazolam to 40mg and the addition of 
diamorphine 20mg over 24hrs are without justification in the medical and 
nursing notes. 

Blood tests on 4th June 1997 show Mrs Service was dehydrated a reversible 
problem treated previously on F.1 ward (Queen Alexandra Hospital) 

There is no comment in the notes about these results and why it was not felt 
appropriate to act on them. If it were considered that Mrs Service was actively 
dying then it would have been reasonable not to have re-hydrated her and the 
use of diamorphine and midazolam could be justified, albeit that the dose of 
diamorphine was excessive for her needs. 

If it were that Mrs Service were not actively dying as the notes on her transfer 
to Dryad ward suggest then the failure to re-hydrate her together with the use 
of midazolam and diamorphine would have contributed more than minimally, 
negligibly or trivially to her death. 

However, given that elderly frail patients with significant medical morbidity can 
deteriorate with little or sometimes no warning it could be argued that it would 
be difficult to ultimately distinguish which of the above was most likely without 
any doubt. 

Geriatric expert. 

Admitted to Queen Alexandra Hospital on 17th May 1997 at the age of 99 at 
the request of her GP to hospital with confusion, disorientation and 
progressive failure for the rest home to be able to cope with. 

Diagnosed to have a combination of dehydration and left ventricular failure. 

Recorded as having long standing congestive cardiac failure. 

Transferred to Gosport War Memorial Hospital on 3rd June, confused, 
diabetes and heart failure. 

The cause of death in the view of the expert was ’multi-factorial’. The dose of 
20mg of diamorphine combined with the 40mg dose of midazolam was higher 
than necessary in this very elderly and frail lady’s terminal care and the 
medication may have slightly shortened life although this opinion was not 
reach the standard of proof of beyond all reasonable doubt. The expert would 
have expected a difference (of survival) of at most no more than a few hours 
or days had a lower dose been used. 

Clinical team member assessment (Geriatrician.) 

9. Geoffrey PACKMAN. 67 years died 3rd September 1999 thirteen days after 
transfer to Gosport War Memorial hospital. 
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’1 have more concerns with this case than the other members of the team. 
This man was treated for a myocardial infarction but died of a gastrointestinal 
bleed. I have been told that this was considered as the diagnosis in Queen 
Alexandra Hospital and the decision was made not to treat it. I have not 
found this and I believe they did not take this seriously in GWMH and treated 
him with opiates. I consider the cause of death to be natural (although 
potentially treatable) and the medical care terrible. 

Quality assurance comment. 

Mr PACKMAN was admitted to Gosport War Memorial Hospital in July 1999 
with an irritating rash on his side and groin. It appears from the medical notes 
that he had an episode of black stools prior to being discharged from 
Portsmouth Hospitals NHS trust. 

Following admission to Gosport War memorial Hospital on 23rd August 1999 
Mr PACKMAN was noted as remaining very poorly with no appetite. It was 
noted in Mr PACKMANS nursing records that he was passing fresh blood per 
rectum on 25th August 1999. 

On 26th August 1999 he complained of feeling unwell with indigestion pain in 
his throat together with nausea and vomiting. 

At this point he was commenced on opiate medication. No active measures 
were taken to resuscitate Mr PACKMAN and following rapidly increasing 
doses of Diamorphine he died on 3rd September 1999. 

There is a variation in the view taken of this case by the experts reviewing the 
notes. Concern is expressed by the geriatrician that although the death was 
natural the gastrointestinal bleed was potentially treatable. 

An expert report from a gastrointestinal surgeon/physician is to be sought. 

Expert Gastroentorologist. 

Mr PACKMAN did not experience a significant life threatening gastrointestinal 
bleed while an in patient at Portsmouth Hospital. He developed a mild anemia 
of chronic disease secondary to his underlying medical problems during that 
part of his admission. His medical state was stable and there was no medical 
reasons to delay transfer to a ’step down’ care facility from an acute hospital. 

Mr PACKMAN is likely to have suffered a significant gastrointestinal bleed 
while an out patient at Gosport War Memorial Hospital (approx 3 days after 
transfer) Medical assessment at that time was limited and was managed with 
escalating doses of opiate analgesia before he died on 3rd September 1999. 

His main problems recorded throughout his stay were obesity, leg oedema, 
cellulites, poor mobility, arthritis and pressure sores. His mental state was 
very good and he had no pain. Overall he doesn’t look ill and it was mainly a 
nursing problem. 
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During the admission period at the previous hospital the only analgesia he 
received was paracetamol. 

Following the passing of rectal blood a non urgent sigmoidoscopy 
examination would have been desirable to confirm haemorrhoids and exclude 
bowel cancer. Transfer for endoscopic therapy should have been considered. 

There is no attempt apparently made to ascertain why Mr PACKMAN had 
become so acutely unwell. 

Mr PACKMAN was obese. He would represent a high risk for surgery. It would 
be difficult to justify the potential mortality of elective surgery in a morbidly 
obese patient. 

Palliative expert. 

Mr Packman was a 67 year old man with obesity impairing his mobility, 
swelling of his legs and leg ulcers admitted to the Queen Alexander Hospital 
because of cellulitis (infection of the skin) affecting his left leg and groin. He 
also had pressure sores over his buttocks and thighs. He improved with 
treatment with antibiotics. He passed loose black stools, suggestive of 
melaena (blood in the stool) on a couple of occasions, but his haemoglobin 
was stable, excluding a s~gnificant gastrointestinal bleed. He was transferred 
to Dryad Ward for rehabilitation. 

During his admission to Dryad Ward, the medical care provided by Dr Barton 
and Dr Reid was suboptimal; there was a lack of clear, accurate and 
contemporaneous patient records, inadequate assessment of Mr Packman’s 
condition; a lack of consultation with colleagues and the use of diamorphine 
and midazolam in doses likely to be excessive to Mr Packman’s needs. 

Mr Packman became acutely unwell on the 26th August 1999. A blood test 
revealed a large drop in his haemoglobin which made a significant 
gastrointestinal bleed likely. This is a serious and life-threatening medical 
emergency which requires urgent and appropriate medical care. The 
commonest underlying cause, a peptic ulcer, can however, be cured. Mr 
Packman should have been transferred without delay to the acute hospital. 
However, Mr Packman was not transferred; the blood test result was not 
obtained or acted upon and he went on to receive doses of diamorphine and 
midazolam which were not obviously justified and likely to have been 
excessive to his needs. 

In short, Dr Barton in particular, but also Dr Reid, could be seen as doctors 
who breached the duty of care they owed to Mr Packman by failing to provide 
treatment with a reasonable amount of skill and care. This was to a degree 
that disregarded the safety of Mr Packman by failing to adequately assess his 
condition and taking suitable and prompt action when he became unwell with 
a gastrointestinal bleed. He was not appropriately assessed, resuscitated with 
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fluids transferred or discussed with the on-cal~ medical team. The use of 
regular morphine and subsequent use of diamorphine and midazolam in 
doses likely to be excessive to Mr Packman’s needs were inappropriate. 

It is the inappropriate management of Mr Packman’s gastrointestinal 
haemorrhage together with his exposure to unjustified and inappropriate 
doses of diamorphine and midazolam that contributed more than minimally, 
negligibly or trivially to his death. As a result Dr Barton and Dr Reid leave 
themselves open to the accusation of gross negligence. 

Geriatric expert. 

Mr Geoffrey Packman was a 68 year old gentleman with a number of chronic 
problems, in particular, gross (morbid) obesity. He is known to have had leg 
ulcers and is admitted with a common complication of severe cellulitis. His 
immobility and infection leads to significant and serious pressure sores in 
hospital. He develops a probable gastric or duodenal ulcer (again common in 
patients who are seriously ill), which continues to bleed slowly, then has a 
massive gastro-intestinal haemorrhage in the Gosport War Memorial Hospital 
which is eventually the cause of death. 

There are a number of weaknesses in the clinical care provided to Mr 
Packman. 

Gastro-intestinal haemorrhage is suspected in Portsmouth, but although 
never disproven he is continued on his anticoagulant. 

Despite the high risks being identified at admission, he does develop pressure 
sores rapidly during his admission in Portsmouth. 

On assessment on 25th August 1999 a further bleed does not lead to medical 
attention. 

On 26th August when he is identified as seriously ill, examination is either not 
undertaken or recorded in the notes and an investigation which is performed 
is never looked at or commented on. Gosport War Memorial Hospital also 
has communication difficulties as the laboratory simply cannot contact the 
hospital. 

A difficult clinical decision is made without appropriate involvement of senior 
medical opinion. 

Prescribing management and use of drug charts by both the nursing and 
clinical staff, in particular for controlled drugs, is unacceptably poor. A higher 
than conventional starting dose of Diamorphine is used without any 
justification for that dose being made in the notes. 

Despite all of the above it is the experts opinion that Mr Packman died of 
natural causes and these deficiencies probably made very little difference to 
the eventual outcome. 
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10. Ruby LAKE. 

Palliative expert. 

Mrs Ruby Lake was a frail 84 year old who was admitted to hospital having 
fallen and fractured her left hip on 5th August 1998. This was surgically 
repaired and she had a difficult post-operative course due to events 
associated with her pre-existing heart and kidney problems, leading to heart 
failure, atrial fibrillation and renal impairment, along with a chest infection and 
episodic confusion/agitation at night. 

A combination of fluids, diuretics and antibiotics were required to support her 
through this period. At the time of Dr Lord’s review, she summarised Mrs 
Lake as frail and quite unwell and was uncertain as to whether there would be 
significant improvement. Subsequent to Dr Lord’s review, Mrs Lake 
experienced chest pains that appeared either related to her ischaemic heart 
disease or were musculoskeletal in origin, for which GTN (an anti-anginal 
treatment) or codeine/paracetamol were effective respectively. 

Apart from these episodes of pain, Mrs Lake appeared to be progressing 
rather than deteriorating whilst awaiting transfer to Gosport War Memorial 
Hospital and had begun to mobilise. On the day prior to transfer, for a period 
of time, she was noted to appear confused and had a temperature. However, 
on the day of the transfer she was reported to be well, comfortable and happy 
with a normal temperature. 

Infrequent entries in the medical notes during her stay on Dryad Ward make it 
difficult to closely follow Mrs Lake’s progress over the last three days of her 
life. She apparently settled in well, but the next day complained of chest pain. 

A syringe driver containing diamorphine and midazolam was commenced 
later that day. Mrs Lake became drowsy, her chest bubbly and the doses of 
drugs in the syringe driver were modified over the next two days to 
diamorphine 60mg, midazolam 60mg and hyoscine hydrobromide 
800microgram/24h 

Mrs Lake was confirmed dead at 18.25h on the 21st August, the cause of 
death stated as bronchopneumonmia. 

Dr Barton does not appear to have provided Mrs Lake a good standard of 
clinical care as defined by the GMC; Mrs Lake was not adequately medically 
assessed by Dr Barton at the time of her transfer or after her complaints of 
chest pain; there was no justification given for the prescription of morphine or 
the drugs administered in the syringe driver. 
A lack of documentation makes it difficult to understand why Mrs Lake may 
have deteriorated in the rapid way that she did. A rapid deterioration often 
suggests an acute underlying medical cause. In this regard, a thorough 
medical assessment when she complained of chest pain (or indeed at the 
time of her transfer) may have identified possible contributing factors, such as 
a chest infection, that could have been appropriately treated. It is therefore 
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possible that her physical state had deteriorated in a temporary or reversible 
way and that with appropriate medical care she would have recovered. 

If it were that Mrs Lake had naturally entered the terminal phase of her life, at 
best, Dr Barton could be seen as a doctor who, whilst failing to keep clear, 
accurate, and contemporaneous patient records had been attempting to allow 
Mrs Lake a peaceful death, albeit with what appears to be an inappropriate 
use of medication due to a lack of sufficient knowledge. However, given the 
lack of medical and nursing records to the contrary, reasonable doubt exists 
that Mrs Lake had definitely entered her terminal stage. 

Given this doubt, at worst, Dr Barton could be seen as a doctor who breached 
the duty of care she owed to Mrs Lake by failing to provide treatment with a 
reasonable amount of skill and care. This was to a degree that disregarded 
the safety of Mrs Lake by failing to adequately assess her physical state at the 
time of her transfer and when she complained of chest pain, failing to take 
suitable and prompt action when necessary and if her physical state had 
deteriorated in a temporary or reversible way exposing her to the 
inappropriate use of diamorphine and midazolam in doses that could have 
contributed more than minimally, negligibly or trivially to her death. As a result 
Dr Barton leaves herself open to the accusation of gross negligence. 

Geriatric expert. 

Ruby Lake was an 84-year-old lady with a number of chronic diseases, she 
suffered a fall and a fractured neck of femur in August 1998. She was 
admitted to hospital and had operative treatment but developed post- 
operative complications including chest infection, chest pain and confusion at 
night and subsequently deteriorated and died in the Gosport War Memorial 
Hospital. 

Mrs Lake had a number of chronic diseases prior to her terminal 
admission following a fractured neck of femur. She had cardiac disease 
with known atrial fibrillation, aortic sclerosis and heart failure, documented 
in 1993. She also had not just osteoarthritis but an auto-immune arthritis 
that was thought variously to be either rheumatoid arthritis or variant auto- 
immune arthritis (the CREST syndrome). She also had problems as a 
result of her long-standing varicose swelling of her lower limbs, with many 
years of unresolved and very painful leg ulcers. Finally she had impaired 
renal function, developed mild acute renal failure when she was given on 
occasion, non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs. 

When she is transferred to the Gosport War Memorial Hospital she is seen 
by Dr Barton who fails to record a clinical examination, apart from a 
statement regarding her functional status. 

The continuation notes of Dr Barton then mention rehabilitation with a 
statement about being happy for the nursing staff to confirm death. There 
are no further medical notes at all and in view of the subsequent changing 
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clinical condition documented in the nursing cardex on 19th August and 
that the nurses contacted the doctor this is a poor standard of care. It also 
makes it very difficult to asses whether appropriate medical management 
was given to Mrs. Lake. 

On admission the regular drugs being prescribed at Haslar were continued 
but the Paracetamol and Tramadol she had received in the Gosport War 
Memorial Hospital only a month before were not prescribed, nor was any 
other milder analgesia such as Paracetamol, The only analgesia written up 
was Oramorphine on the ’as required’ part of the drug prescription. While 
it is probably appropriate for somebody who might have been having 
episodes of angina and left ventricular failure while in Gosport to have a 
Morphine drug available for nurses to give, it is very poor prescribing to 
write up no other form of analgesia, particularly if a doctor is not on site. 
The nursing staff could have no alternative but to go straight to a strong 
opioid analgesia. 

On her first night she is documented as anxious and confused. This is 
then treated by giving a dose of Oramorphine despite there being no 
record in the medical or nursing cardex that it was pain causing this 
confusion. It should be noted this was probably no different from her 
evenings in Haslar which did not need any specific medication 
management. It is the experts view that this is poor nursing and medical 
care in the management of confusion in the evening. 

On 19th August an event happened at 11.50 in the morning with the 
nursing notes recording that she had marked chest pain and was grey 
around her mouth. This could have been a heart attack, it could have 
been a pulmonary embolus, it could have been another episode of angina, 
it could simply have been some non-specific chest pain. No investigations 
are put in train to make a diagnosis, she does not appear to have been 
medically assessed, or if she was it was not recorded in the notes and 
would be poor medical practice. However, if the patient was seriously 
distressed, it would have been appropriate to have given the Oramorphine 
10 mgs that was written up on the ’as required’ side of the drug chart. The 
first aim would be to relieve distress while a diagnosis was made. 

Later on 19th August a syringe driver is started containing Diamorphine 20 
mgs and 20 mgs of Midazolam. The only justification for this is recorded in 
the nursing notes where it says pain is relieved for a short period. I am 
unable to find any records of observations, for example, pulse or blood 
pressure while the patient continues to have pain. 

The syringe driver is continued the next day and Hyoscine is add and the 
dose of Diamorphine, Midazolam and Hyoscine all increase during the 
afternoon of the 20th and again when the syringe driver is replaced on 21st. 
Mrs Lake dies peacefully on 21 st August. 

Diamorphine is specifically prescribed for pain, is commonly used for pain 
in cardiac disease as well as in terminal care. Diamorphine is compatible 
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with Midazolam and can be mixed in the same syringe driver and is widely 
used subcutaneously as doses from 5 - 80 mgs per 24 hours and is 
particularly used for terminal restlessness. The dose of Midazolam used 
was 20 mgs for the first 24 hours, which is within current guidance. 

The original dose of Diamorphine appeared to be for continued chest pain. 
It is unusual to use continuous Diamorphine for chest pain without making 
a specific diagnosis. It is possible the patient had had a myocardial 
infarction and was now in cardiogenic shock. IN that case it would be very 
reasonable to use a syringe driver and indeed to add Midazolam and 
Hyoscine over the subsequent 48 hours. This can only be supposition 
without adequate documentation. 

It is impossible from the notes to determine the cause of death and a 
Coroner’s Post Mortem should have been held. 

The combination of a lack of a documented clinical examination, the lack 
of prescription of appropriate oral analgesia on admission to Gosport, the 
decision to start a syringe driver without documentation of a clinical 
diagnosis or the reason for it in the medical notes, together represent a 
negligent standard of medical care. 

Without a proven diagnosis, it is possible that the combination of 
Diamorphine and Midazolam together with the Hyoscine in a syringe driver 
contributed in part to Mrs Lake’s death. However the expert unable to 
satisfy himself to the standard of beyond reasonable doubt that it made 
more than a minimal contribution. 

Summary prepared from medical evidence received to date. 

D.M.Williams Det Supt 
Senior Investiqatin.q Officer. 
6th June 2006. 
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From: 

Sent: 11 December 2006 11:09 

To: d a v i d. w i I I i a m s @ i~~#~_0.-.~]~-~~ ] 

cc: 
Subject: IRE: Operation Rochester- Gosport War Memorial Investigation 

*** B@)re acting on this email or opening an), attachment.you are advised to read the Eversheds’ 
disclaimer at the end of this email *** 

Dear Det Supt Williams 

Thank you for your email, i Code A ] from the GMC would w_i.sb_.to._b~_jn.attendance, as would I as legal 
representative of the GMC~-.-lIN-~Sggible, that my colleague L._...C_._o._.d_._e._._A._._._imay also attend, although this will 
depend somewhat on the date of the meeting. I would be grateful if you could let me have the date as soon 
as possible. 

Kind Regards 

IFOR-EVE-R~SREDS LLP 

Code A From: david.williams@i ................................................................................................................................................... 
Sent: 10 December 20{J6-I~-."13 
To:i I 

........... ..C_._O_._d._.e_._._.A_._ .......... 
Subject: FW: Operation Rochester - Gosport War Memorial Investigation 

Dear i Code A 

Just to let you know that I spoke with the CPS attending lawyer Paul CLOSE last Thursday 7th December.. 

He believes that he may be able to release the result towards the back end of this week.. 13th/14th Dec 

(although previous indications have not been achieved due to CPS pressures of work) 

We will be looking to hold a stakeholder meeting asap following the result.. 

Can you let me know who from the GMC is likely to be available?.. 

Thanks..DW Det Supt 

From: [ ..................................................................................................... Code A i 
Sent: 6 ~- N~;) &-~-6~T -200~--17:-03 ................................................... ’ 

To: William.s.~ David 
Code A 

Subject." Operation Rochester - Gosport War Memorial Investigation 

*** B<~bre acting on this email or ope~firtg any attachment you are advised to read the Evershe&" 
disclaimer at the end q/’this email *** 

25/04/2007 
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Please see attached letter. 

********* This email is sent fiw and on behalf of Eversheds LLP ********* 

Ever’she&’ .LLP is a limited liabiliO" partnership, registered in Erlgland and [4/ales, registered 
number 0C304065, registered ~[fice Senator House, 85 Queen Victoria Street, London EC4V 4,]L~ 
Regulated ~V the Law SocieO’, A list qi’the members’ names and their prqibs’sional qual~iicadons is 
available Jbr inspection at the above qfflce. 

Confidentialit.v: This email and its attachments are intended for the above named only and may be 
conJidential. [[they have come to you in error you must ta~ no action based on them, nor must you 
copy or show them to anyone; please rep@ to this email and h~ghlight the er’ror. 
Security Warning: Please note that this email has been created in the knowledge that Internet email 
is nora 100% secure communications medium. ~’ advise that you understand and observe this lack 
qf securiO, when entailing us. 
Viruses: Although we have taken steps to ensure that this email and attachments are.fi"ee Jkom a~v 
virus, we advise that in keeping with good computing.practice the recipient shouM ensure thcty are 
actually virus jkee. 

************* [h~p://www.eversheds.corn!] ************* 

This electronic message contains information from Hampshire Constabulary which may be legally 
privileged and confidential. Any opinions expressed may be those of the individual and not 
necessarily the Hampshire Constabulary. 

The information is intended to be for the use of the individual(s) or entity named above. If you are 
not the intended recipient, be aware that any disclosure, copying, distribution or use of the contents 
of the information is prohibited. If you have received this electronic message in error, please notify 
us by telephone 

+44 (0) 845 045 45 45 or email to postmaster@hampshire.pnn.police.uk immediately. Please then 
delete this email and destroy any copies of it. 

All communications, including telephone calls and electronic messages 

to and from the Hampshire Constabulary may be subject to monitoring. Replies to this email may be 
seen by employees other than the intended recipient. 

*~******* This email is sent for and on behalf ~f Eversheds LLP ~**~**~’*~ 

Eversheds LLP is a limited liability partnership, registered in England and ~2tles, registered 
number 0C304065, registered o./,fice Senator House. 85 Queen Victoria Street; [.omton EC4 V 
Regulated b)’ the Law SocieOz A list of the members’ names’ and their proJbssional qual~[ications is 
avaitable f!)r in,spection at the above oj,]ice. 

Confidentiality: 77fis email and its attachments are intendedJbr the above named only and mqv be 

con.fidential. If they have come to you in error you must t~~ke no action based on them. nor musl you 
cot~v or show them to anyone; please re, ply to this email and highlight the error. 

25/04/2007 
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Security Warning: Please note that this email has been created in the knowledge that h~ternet email 
is not a 100% secure communications medium. ~2, advise that you under’stand and observe this lack 
q/’securiO~ when emailing 
Viruses: Although we have taken steps to ensure that ~his email and a~tachment:s" are,/re<i?om any 
virus, we advise that in keeping with good computing practice the recipient should ensure they are 
aclualO; virus./kee. 

************* [h~p://www.eversheds.com!] ************* 

25/04/2007 
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Code A i 

From: david.williams(~ ............... i~i-i~-~- ............. 7 

Sent: 20 December 2006 16:59 

To: F ...................... ....................... 
Cc: 

~ 
~-~ ~-.ii~ idave.grocott@ 

i .............. ~,~-6~ ..................... i ..................................................... 
Subject: FW: letter to 

Dear i Code Ai 

I have forwarded your request to Det Insp Dave GROCOTT who will deal with the disclosure issues.. 
Please find attached a summary of the 10 cases. 

Regards 

David WILLIAMS 
Detective Superintendent. 

From: ’ .......................................... i~3-~~-~, ........................................... 
$ent-’ 20 December 2006 16:21 
To; Williams, David 
Subject; letter to Det Supt Williams 

* ** Before acting on this email or opening any attachment you are advised to read the Eversheds 

disclaimer at the end of this email. ** * 

Please see attached letter following our meeting yesterday. 

Yours sincerely 

Code A 
FOR EVERSHEDS LLP 

*** Eversheds is supporting both Unicef and Breast Cancer Campaign as an alternative to 
sending Christmas cards and E-cards. We wish all our clients and contacts a Happy Christmas 
and prosperous New Year. *** 

********* This email is sent for and on behalf of Eversheds LLP ********* 

Eversheds LLP is a limited liability partnership, registered in England and Wales, registered 
number 0C304065, registered office Senator House, 85 Queen Victoria Street, London EC4 V 4JL. 
Regulated by the Law Society. A list of the members’ names and their professional qualifications is 
available for inspection at the above office. 

Confidentiality." This email and its attachments are intended for the above named only and may be 
confidential. If they have come to you in error you must take no action based on them, nor must you 
copy or show them to anyone," please reply to this email and highlight the error. 

Security Warning." Please note that this email has been created in the knowledge that Internet email 
is not a 100% secure communications medium. We advise that you understand and observe this lack 
of security when emailing us. 

25/04/2007 
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Viruses." Although we have taken steps to ensure that this email and attachments are free from any 
virus, we advise that in keeping with good computing practice the recipient should ensure they are 
actually virus free. 

************* [http://www.eversheds.com/] ************* 

This electronic message contains information from Hampshire Constabulary which may be legally privileged and confidential. Any 
opinions expressed may be those of the individual and not necessarily the Hampshire Constabulary. 

The information is intended to be for the use of the individual(s) or entity named above. If you are not the intended recipient, be aware 
that any disclosure, copying, distribution or use of the contents of the information is prohibited. If you have received this electronic 
message in error, please notify us by telephone 

+44 (0) 845 045 45 45 or email to postmaster@hampshire.pnn.police.uk immediately. Please then delete this email and destroy any 
copies of it. 

All communications, including telephone calls and electronic messages 

to and from the Hampshire Constabulary may be subject to monitoring. Replies to this email may be seen by employees other than the 
intended recipient. 

25/04/2007 
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Det Supt Dave Williams 
Hampshire Constabulary 

Date 20 December2006 

Your ref 

......... [iii-  ;0_-,  e,_ili iiiili ........ 

Dear Det Supt Williams 

Operation Rochester 

Further to the stakeholder meeting of yesterday, as we discussed we are keen to 
progress the GMC’s investigation swiftly. Therefore, I would be grateful if you could 
provide, or make available to us to inspect at your offices." 

1) the summary document that we discussed yesterday outlining the evidence in respect 
of the 10 cases that were identified for the CPS to consider, namely Elsie Devine, Elsie 
Lavender, Leslie Pittock, Ruby Lake, Arthur Cunningham, Robert Wilson, Enid Spurgin, 
Geoffrey Packman, Helene Service, and Sheila Gregory. 

2) all witness statements, expert evidence, transcripts of police interviews and medical 
records relevant to the investigation of the above 10 cases together with any evidence 
that remains in your possession relating to Eva Page, Alice Wilkie and Gladys Richards. 

3) an index of all evidence obtained to date, 

I understand that you are awaiting consent from family members in respect of some of 
the documentation, but request that you provide such documentation as is available as 
soon as possible, even if that means providing the information in a piecemeal fashion. 
This will then enable the GMC to make an early assessment of the individual cases. 

I look forward to hearing from you. 

Yours sincerely 

Eversheds LLP 
1 Callaghan Square 
Cardiff 
CF10 5BT 

Tel 0845 497 9797 
Fax 0845 498 7333 
Int +44 20 7497 9797 
DX 33016 Cardiff 
www.eversheds.corn 

Eversheds LLP is a limited liability partnership, registered in 
England and Wales, registered number OC304065, 
registered office Senator House, 85 Queen Victoria Street, 
London EC4V 4JL. Regulated by the Law Society. A list of 
the members’ names and their professional qualifications is 
available for inspection at the above office. For a full list of 
our omces please visit www,eversheds,com 
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i Code A i 

From: david.williams~ ................ i~~~l-~-~- ............... 

Sent: 20 December 2006 17:39 

To: 

Cc: 

Code A 
.............................................................. 

dave.grocott@[~ ................. ~-~~i~-~ ................. i roy.stephenson@ 
................................. I~IZZZZZZZ~.c_-I~ge_-I~I~IZZZZZZZZZ~IZIZZZZZ~ .................................. 

Subject: FW: letter to Det Supt Williams 

Code A i 
L-~-g~J~fiary documents attached..DW. 

From:i ...........................................................................................................Code A 
Sent: :~ ~)--[~fib-~i:-2-006-i7~-29 .......................................................... 
To: Williams, David 
Subject: RE: letter to Det Supt Williams 

*** Before acting on this email or opening any attachment you are advised to read the Eversheds 
disclaimer at the end of this email. *** 

Thank you.The note states that there are 14 Cat 3 cases, but in 4 of those cases death was from natural 
causes although there were negligence issues to be explored. Please could you confirm the identities of 
those 4. 

Kind regards 

From: david.williams@i ......................................................................................................................................................... Code 
Sent-" 20 December 201~6-I7!T~ ......................................................................................................................................... 

Subject: FVV: letter to Det Supt Williams 

Apologies.. 
DW. 

From=L ....................................... _.C..__o._..d_._e_._._A_._ ....................................... 
Sent: 20 December 2006 17:06 
To:i ....... -I~-a~-~ ....... ~ 
Subject= RE: I-g~¥-’to Det Supt Williams 

*** Before acting on this email or opening any attachment you are advised to read the Eversheds 
disclaimer at the end of this email. *** 

Thank you, unfortunately the summary was not attached, please could you resend it? 
.~o.¢JL.B.~gards 

Code Ai 

From: david.w, ,ams(  ....................................................... 
~od~ .................................................................. A 

25/04/2007 
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~ent: 20 December 2006 16:59 

¯ o.. ....... ...... ....................................................... ...................................................... 
dave.grocott@ C¢:.                       ,                 . ............................................................................................................................... 

Sub~-~fFW.’-l~-~i=tb-D~t Supt Williams 

Dear [._.C_..o._d_..e._ _A_i 
I have forwarded your request to Det Insp Dave GROCOTT who will deal with the disclosure issues.. 
Please find attached a summary of the 10 cases. 
Regards 
David WILLIAMS 
Detective Superintendent. 

From:[ ....................................... i~-~)-(~-i~-’)~ ....................................... . 
Sent: 20-ff~fi~b~-i--2-1J06-i 6-~2I .................................................... 
TO: Williams, David 
Subject: letter to Dot Supt Williams 

*** Before acting on this email or opening any attachment you are advised to read the Eversheds 
disclaimer at the end of this email. * ** 

Please see attached letter following our meeting yesterday. 
..Y_.o_._u._r._S_ S_.[.n_._c.~_r._e!y._. 

Code A 
FO-R-EVERSFIEDS LLP 

*** Eversheds is supporting both Unicef and Breast Cancer Campaign as an alternative to 
sending Christmas cards and E-cards. We wish all our clients and contacts a Happy Christmas 
and prosperous New Year. *** 

********* This email is sent for and on behalf of Eversheds LLP ********* 

Eversheds LLP is a limited liability partnership, registered in England and Wales, registered 
number 0C304065, registered office Senator House, 85 Queen Victoria Street, London EC4 V 4JL. 
Regulated by the Law Society. A list of the members’ names and their professional qualifications is 
available for inspection at the above office. 

Confidentiality." This email and its attachments are intended for the above named only and may be 
confidential. If they have come to you in error you must take no action based on them, nor must you 
copy or show them to anyone; please reply to this email and highlight the error. 

Security Warning." Please note that this email has been created in the knowledge that Internet email 
is not a 100% secure communications medium. We advise that you understand and observe this lack 
of security when emailing us. 

Viruses." Although we have taken steps to ensure that this email and attachments are free from any 
virus, we advise that in keeping with good computing practice the recipient should ensure they are 
actually virus free. 

************* [http://www.eversheds.com!] ************* 

This electronic message contains information from Hampshire Constabulary which may be legally 
privileged and confidential. Any opinions expressed may be those of the individual and not 
necessarily the Hampshire Constabulary. 

25/04/2007 
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The information is intended to be for the use of the individual(s) or entity named above. If you are 
not the intended recipient, be aware that any disclosure, copying, distribution or use of the contents 
of the information is prohibited. If you have received this electronic message in error, please notify 
us by telephone 

+44 (0) 845 045 45 45 or email to postmaster@hampshire.pnn.police.uk immediately. Please then 
delete this email and destroy any copies of it. 

All communications, including telephone calls and electronic messages 

to and from the Hampshire Constabulary may be subject to monitoring. Replies to this email may be 
seen by employees other than the intended recipient. 

*** Eversheds is supporting both Unicef and Breast Cancer Campaign as an alternative to 
sending Christmas cards and E-cards. We wish all our clients and contacts a Happy Christmas 
and prosperous New Year. *** 

********* This email is sent for and on behalf of Eversheds LLP ********* 

Eversheds LLP is a limited liability partnership, registered in England and Wales, registered 
number 0C304065, registered office Senator House, 85 Queen Victoria Street, London EC4V 4JL. 
Regulated by the Law Society. A list of the members’ names and their professional qualifications is 
available for inspection at the above office. 

Confidentiality." This email and its attachments are intended for the above named only and may be 
confidential. If they have come to you in error you must take no action based on them, nor must you 
copy or show them to anyone; please reply to this email and highlight the error. 

Security Warning." Please note that this email has been created in the knowledge that Internet email 
is not a 100% secure communications medium. We advise that you understand and observe this lack 
of security when emailing us. 

Viruses." Although we have taken steps to ensure that this email and attachments are free from any 
virus, we advise that in keeping with good computing practice the recipient should ensure they are 
actually virus free. 

************* [http://www.eversheds.com!] ************* 

*** Eversheds is supporting both Unicef and Breast Cancer Campaign as an alternative to 
sending Christmas cards and E-cards. We wish all our clients and contacts a Happy Christmas 
and prosperous New Year. *** 

* ** ** ** ** This email is sent for and on behalf of Eversheds LLP ****** *** 

Eversheds LLP is a limited liability partnership, registered in England and Wales, registered 
number 0C304065, registered office Senator House, 85 Queen Victoria Street, London EC4 V 4JL. 
Regulated by the Law Society. A list of the members’names and their professional qualifications is 
available for inspection at the above office. 

Confidentiality." This email and its attachments are intended for the above named only and may be 
confidential. If they have come to you in error you must take no action based on them, nor must you 
copy or show them to anyone; please reply to this email and highlight the error. 

25/04/2007 
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Security Warning." Please note that this email has been created in the knowledge that Internet email 
is not a 100% secure communications medium. We advise that you understand and observe this lack 
of security when emailing us. 

Viruses." Although we have taken steps to ensure that this" email and attachments are free from any 
virus, we advise that in keeping with good computing practice the recipient should ensure they are 
actually virus free. 

************* [hRp:#www.eversheds.com!] ************* 

25/04/2007 
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i Code A i 

From: .................. ~i~-~ ................. 

Sent: 20 December 2006 16:06 

¯ o: 
Subject: RE: Barton 

The letter seems to cover all the angles, even those "lateral" ones that they hinted at. 

i Code Ai 

From: L ......................................... _..C..o_._d._..e.__.A.. .......................................... 
Sent: 20 Dec 2006 15:52 

Subject: Barton 

* ** Before acting on this email or opening any attachment you are advised to read the 
Eversheds disclaimer at the end of this email. *** 

HiicodeAi 

Please find attached a draft letter that I propose sending to Dave Williams. Our team here has got 
together this morning to consider a possible strategy going forward. Of the 5 cases referred to the 
PCC, only 2, Arthur Cunningham and Robert Wilson were included in the 10 cases selected by the 
police. We are obliged to continue with the original 5 cases referred (unless any reason emerges for 
cancellation) and therefore we need any material that remains in the police possession relating to 
these 5. It also seems to us that we will need to consider the evidence, particularly the expert evidence 
in respect of the remainder of the 10 police cases, before we consider with you how many to continue 
with. 

Kind Regards 

’-]nt’ern~’tTon~.--÷~~- z~r -~ -,~ ~ ~ -~-/-~~ ...... 
www.eversheds.�_o.rn_ 

*** Eversheds is supporting both Unicef and Breast Cancer Campaign as an alternative to 
sending Christmas cards and E-cards. We wish all our clients and contacts a Happy 
Christmas andprosperous New Year. *** 

********* This email is sent for and on behalf of Eversheds LLP ********* 

Eversheds LLP is a limited liability partnership, registered in England and Wales, registered 
number 0C304065, registered office Senator House, 85 Queen Victoria Street, London EC4V 
4JL. Regulated by the Law Society. A list of the members’ names and their professional 
qualifications is available for inspection at the above office. 

25/04/2007 
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Confidentiality: This email and its attachments are intended for the above named only and 
may be confidential. If they have come to you in error you must take no action based on them, 
nor must you copy or show them to anyone; please reply to this email and highlight the error. 

Security Warning." Please note that this email has been created in the knowledge that Internet 
email is not a 100% secure communications medium. We advise that you understand and 
observe this lack of security when emailing us. 

Viruses: Although we have taken steps to ensure that this email and attachments are free from 
any virus, we advise that in keeping with good computing practice the recipient should ensure 
they are actually virus free. 

************* [http://www.eversheds.corn/] ************* 

25/04/2007 
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Code A 

From: 

Sent: 20 December 2006 12:09 

To: 

Subject: Attached Files 

*** Eversheds is supporting both Unicef and Breast Cancer Campaign as an alternative to 
sending Christmas cards and E-cards. We wish all our clients and contacts a Happy Christmas 
and prosperous New Year. *** 

*** Before acting on this email or opening any attachment you are advised to read the Eversheds 

disclaimer at the end of this email. * ** 

[Code A i 
L ..................... J 

Please find attached some draft letters for you to approve. The letter is ever so slightly different for those who 
have already been referred by the PPC, those investigated by the police, and Mr Stewart-Farthing, step son of 
Mr Cunningham who falls into both categories. I am not sure to what extent the family members were 
informed of the referral to the PCC if at all, so I have remained silent on this. 

There doesn’t seem to have been the national news coverage that I think we were anticipating .... 

[Code A i 

*** **** ** This email is sent for and on behalf of Eversheds LLP ** *** **** 

Eversheds LLP is a limited liability partnership, registered in England and Wales, registered 
number 0C304065, registered office Senator House, 85 Queen Victoria Street, London EC4 V 4JL. 
Regulated by the Law Society. A list of the members’ names and their professional qualifications is 
available for inspection at the above office. 

Confidentiality." This email and its attachments are intended for the above named only and may be 
confidential. If they have come to you in error you must take no action based on them, nor must you 
copy or show them to anyone," please reply to this email and highlight the error. 

Security Warning: Please note that this email has been created in the knowledge that Internet email 
is not a 100% secure communications medium. We advise that you understand and observe this lack 
of security when emailing us. 

Viruses: Although we have taken steps to ensure that this email and attachments are free from any 
virus, we advise that in keeping with good computing practice the recipient should ensure they are 
actually virus free. 

************* [http://www.eversheds.com/] ************* 

26/04/2007 



GMC100912-0087 

._M_ r C~_Stewa rt: Fa [_t._h i n~ .... 

Date 20 December 2006 

Your ref 

Our ref [ ............ ~-~ ~l-~-~ ............ 

Direct dial Code A Direct fax .                    , 

Code A 

Dear Mr Stewart-Farthing 

General Medical Council - Dr Barton 

We are instructed by the General Medical Council in relation to the investigation of the 
above doctor. The General Medical Council has been notified by Hampshire Constabulary 
that the Crown Prosecution Service does not intend to prosecute any individual following 
completion of their investigation of deaths at the Gosport War Memorial Hospital. 

It may assist you to explain that the role of the General Medical Council is to investigate 
allegations of serious professional misconduct, then present those allegations and the 
evidence in support of the allegations to a Fitness to Practise Panel. The Fitness to 
Practise Panel considers whether the practitioner is guilty of serious professional 
misconduct, and if so, what sanction should be imposed upon the practitioner, the 
sanctions available to the Panel are to issue a reprimand, impose conditions upon the 
practitioner’s practice, to suspend the practitioner, or to erase the practitioner from the 
medical register. 

Whilst the police will have been considering the issue of whether there was any conduct 
capable of forming a criminal offence, the General Medical Council considers a very 
different test: whether the conduct falls below the professional standards set out in its 
Guidance "Good Medical Practice". Good Medical Practices describes the principles and 
standards of competence, care and conduct expected of the practitioner. Therefore, the 
fact that the Crown Prosecution Service does not intend to prosecute poses no bar to the 
General Medical Council’s own investigation. 

I will now be liaising with Hampshire Constabulary to obtain information from them which 
will be relevant to our investigation on behalf of the General Medical Council. Upon 
consideration of the relevant information, I will contact you with further details. In the 
meantime, I understand that Hampshire Constabulary has requested that you provide 
your consent to allow them to share the evidence it has gathered with us, including the 
relevant medical records. I urge you to complete and return the consent form as soon as 
possible, in order that we can progress the investigation promptly. 

Yours sincerely 

Code A 
L’]~-O~-’~V’E~5-Pt~ ~ S LLP 

Eversheds LLP 
1 Callaghan Square 
Cardiff 
CF10 5BT 

Tel 0845 497 9797 
Fax 0845 498 7333 
Int +44 20 7497 9797 
DX 33016 Cardiff 
www.eversheds.com 

Eversheds LLP is a limited liability partnership, registered in 
England and Wales, registered number 0C304065, 
registered office Senator House, 85 Queen Victoria Street, 

available for inspec[ion at the above office. For a full list Of 
our offices please visit www.eversheds.com 

i .................... ................... 
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Date 20 December 2006 

Your ref 

Our ref i ......... ~-~G-X- ........ ~ 

Direct dial 

[Code A Direct fax .. ................................ i 

L ..................... ..................... i 

Dear 

General Medical Council - Dr Barton 

We are instructed by the General Medical Council in relation to the investigation of the 
above doctor. The General Medical Council has been notified by Hampshire Constabulary 
that the Crown Prosecution Service does not intend to prosecute any individua~ following 
completion of their investigation of deaths at the Gosport War Memorial Hospital. 

As you are probably aware, the role of the General Medical Council is to investigate 
allegations of serious professional misconduct, then present those allegations and the 
evidence in support of the allegations to a Fitness to Practise Panel. The Fitness to 
Practise Panel considers whether the practitioner is guilty of serious professional 
misconduct, and if so, what sanction should be imposed upon the practitioner, the 
sanctions available to the Panel are to issue a reprimand, impose conditions upon the 
practitioner’s practice, to suspend the practitioner, or to erase the practitioner from the 
medical register. 

Whilst the police will have been considering the issue of whether there was any conduct 
capable of forming a criminal offence, the General Medical Council considers a very 
different test: whether the conduct falls below the professional standards set out in its 
Guidance "Good Medical Practice". Good Medical Practices describes the principles and 
standards of competence, care and conduct expected of the practitioner. Therefore, the 
fact that the Crown Prosecution Service does not intend to prosecute poses no bar to the 
General Medical Council’s own investigation. 

I will now be liaising with Hampshire Constabulary to obtain information from them which 
will be relevant to our investigation on behalf of the General Medical Council. Upon 

consideration of the relevant information, I will contact you with further details. 

Yours sincerely 

LFrJR-E~ERSFfED~ LLP 

Eversheds LLP 
1 Callaghan Square 
Cardiff 
CFIO 5BT 

Tel 0845 497 9797 
Fax 0845 498 7333 
Int +44 20 7497 9797 
DX 33016 Cardiff 
www.eversheds.com 

Eversheds LLP is a limited liability partnership, registered in 
England and Wales, registered number OC304065, 
registered office Senator House, 85 Queen Victoria Street, 
London EC4V 4JL. Regulated by the L~w So¢ieW. A list Of 
Lhe members’ names and their professional qualifications is 
available for inspection at the above office. For a full list of 
our offices please visit www.eversheds.com ................. ................. 
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Date 20 December 2006 

Your ref 

Our ref    [    Code A 
Direct dial ~- ............................... [--" 

Direct fax Code A 
i Code A 

Dear 

General Medical Council - Dr Barton 

We are instructed by the General Medical Council to investigate the above doctor. The 
General Medical Council has been notified by Hampshire Constabulary that the Crown 
Prosecution Service does not intend to prosecute any individual following completion of 
their investigation of deaths at the Gosport War Memorial Hospital. 

It may assist you to explain that the role of the General Medical Council is to investigate 
allegations of serious professional misconduct, then present those allegations and the 
evidence in support of the allegations to a Fitness to Practise Panel. The Fitness to 
Practise Panel considers whether the practitioner is guilty of serious professional 
misconduct, and if so, what sanction should be imposed upon the practitioner, the 
sanctions available to the Panel are to issue a reprimand, impose conditions upon the 
practitioner’s practice, to suspend the practitioner, or to erase the practitioner from the 
medical register. 

Whilst the police will have been considering the issue of whether there was any conduct 
capable of forming a criminal offence, the General Medical Council considers a very 
different test: whether the conduct falls below the professional standards set out in its 
Guidance "Good Medical Practice". Good Medical Practices describes the principles and 
standards of competence, care and conduct expected of the practitioner. Therefore, the 
fact that the Crown Prosecution Service does not intend to prosecute poses no bar to the 
General Medical Council’s own investigation. 

I will now be liaising with Hampshire Constabulary to obtain information from them which 
will be relevant to our investigation on behalf of the General Medical Council. Upon 
consideration of the relevant information, I will contact you with further details. In the 
meantime, I understand that Hampshire Constabulary has requested that you provide 
your consent to allow them to share the evidence it has gathered with us, including the 
relevant medica{ records. I urge you to complete and return the consent form as soon as 
possible, in order that we can progress the investigation promptly. 

Yours sincerely 

"FOR-E V E]~S-FIE D~5 LLP 

Evershed$ LLP 
1 Callaghan Square 
Cardiff 
CF10 5BT 

Tel 0845 497 9797 
Fax 0845 498 7333 
Int +44 20 7497 9797 
DX 33016 Cardiff 
www.eversheds.com 

Eversheds LLP is a limit:ed liability partnership, registered in 
England and Wa~es, registered number 0C304065, 
registered office Senator House, 85 Queen Victoria Street, 
London EC4V 4JL. Regulated by the Law Society. A list of 
the members’ names and their professional qualifications is 
available for inspection at the above office. For a full list of 
our offices please visit www.eversheds.com 
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Code A 
From: Code A 
Sent: L ~{}-[J~~ ~-iii-15 ~i-200B--1-5 :.-52 ........................................ 

TO: i ...................... i~-~-~~-~.- .................... ] 

Subject: Barton 

* ** Before acting on this email or opening any attachment you are advised to read the Eversheds 

disclaimer at the end of this email. *** 

Hi LCode A= 

Please find attached a draft letter that I propose sending to Dave Williams. Our team here has got together 
this morning to consider a possible strategy going forward. Of the 5 cases referred to the PCC, only 2, Arthur 
Cunningham and Robert Wilson were included in the 10 cases selected by the police. We are obliged to 
continue with the original 5 cases referred (unless any reason emerges for cancellation) and therefore we 
need any material that remains in the police possession relating to these 5. It also seems to us that we will 
need to consider the evidence, particularly the expert evidence in respect of the remainder of the 10 police 
cases, before we consider with you how many to continue with. 

Kind Regards 

Code A 
~~]~tor .................................................... 

Direct Dial:. ............ i~-~~i~-~- ........... 
I nternation~-ir.-g:4~4-2i)-749T9-[97 ...... 
~.,.~ye_(.s.h~.d.s.,.~.~ 

*** Eversheds is supporting both Unicef and Breast Cancer Campaign as an alternative to 
sending Christmas cards and E-cards. We wish all our clients and contacts a Happy Christmas 
and prosperous New Year. *** 

********* This email is sent for and on behalf of Eversheds LLP ********* 

Eversheds LLP is a limited liability partnership, registered in England and Wales, registered 
number 0C304065, registered office Senator House, 85 Queen Victoria Street, London EC4V 4JL. 
Regulated by the Law Society. A list of the members’ names and their professional qualifications is 
available for inspection at the above office. 

Confidentiality." This email and its attachments are intended for the above named only and may be 
confidential. If they have come to you in error you must take no action based on them, nor must you 
copy or show them to anyone," please reply to this email and highlight the error. 

Security Warning." Please note that this email has been created in the knowledge that Internet email 
is not a 100% secure communications medium. We advise that you understand and observe this lack 
of security when emailing us. 

Viruses." Although we have taken steps to ensure that this email and attachments are free from any 
virus, we advise that in keeping with good computing practice the recipient should ensure they are 
actually virus free. 

26/04/2007 
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GMC100912-0094 

Det Supt Dave Williams 
Hampshire Constabulary 

Date 20 December 2006 

Your ref 

Our ref i ...... ~~-~i-~-~i~--i 

Code A 

Dear Det Supt Williams 

Operation Rochester 

Further to the stakeholder meeting of yesterday, as we discussed we are keen to 
progress the GMC’s investigation swiftly. Therefore, I would be grateful if you could 
provide, or make available to us to inspect at your offices: 

1) the summary document that we discussed yesterday outlining the evidence in respect 
of the 10 cases that were identified for the CPS to consider, namely Elsie Devine, Elsie 
Lavender, Leslie Pittock, Ruby Lake, Arthur Cunningham, Robert Wilson, Enid Spurgin, 
Geoffrey Packman, Helene Service, and Sheila Gregory. 

2) all witness statements, expert evidence, transcripts of police interviews and medical 
records relevant to the investigation of the above 10 cases together with any evidence 
that remains in your possession relating to Eva Page, Alice Wilkie and Gladys Richards. 

3) an index of all evidence obtained to date. 

I understand that you are awaiting consent from family members in respect of some of 
the documentation, but request that you provide such documentation as is available as 
soon as possible, even if that means providing the information in a piecemeal fashion. 
This will then enable the GMC to make an early assessment of the individual cases. 

I look forward to hearing from you. 

Yours sincerely 

Code A 
FOR EVERSHEDS LLP 

Eversheds LLP 
1 Callaghan Square 
Cardiff 
CFIO 5BT 

Tel 0845 497 9797 
Fax 0845 498 7333 
Int +44 20 7497 9797 
DX 33016 Cardiff 
www.eversheds.com 

Eversheds LLP is a limited liabilib/ pa~nership, registered in 
England and Wales, registered number OC304065, 
registered o~ce Senator House, 85 Queen Victoria Street, 
London EC4V 4]L. Regulated by the Law Society. A list of 

available for inspection at the above office. For a full list of 

._o.u_[_.o_r~.c.e_?_p_leas~ visit ~w~_.ever~h_F_d.s:_cp..m_._. 
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Code A 

From: david.williams@[ .............. l~~~-~ .............. 

Sent: 20 December 2006 17:11 

To: 

Cc: 
Code A 

Subject: FW: letter to Det Supt Williams 

Apologies.. 

DW. 

Fromi ........................................................................................................ Code A 
Sent:,z~.uecem.b-er.-zuo.6-.r~.~ ................................................... _, 

To: Williams, David 
Subject: RE: letter Lo DeL SupL Williams 

*** Before acting on this email or opening any attachment you are advised to read the Eversheds 
disclaimer at the end of this email. * ** 

Thank you, unfortunately the summary was not attached, please could you resend it? 

Kind Regards 
i Code A I 

From: david.williams@[ ..................................................................... -~-~-~ ...................................................................... 
Sent: 20 December 2006 16:59 

Subject: FW: letter Lo DeL Supt Williams 

Dear Code A i 
I hav~f~-N0gfe~ed your request to Det Insp Dave GROCOTT who will deal with the disclosure issues.. 
Please find attached a summary of the 10 cases. 
Regards 
David WI LLIAMS 
Detective Superintendent. 

From:i .......................................... i~ ~-~1~-~- ......................................... 

To: Williams, David 
Subject: leLLer Lo DeL SupL Williams 

*** Before acting on this email or opening any attachment you are advised to read the Eversheds 
disclaimer at the end of this email. *** 

Please see attached letter following our meeting yesterday. 
Yours sincerely 

FOR EVERSHEDS LLP 

*** Eversheds is supporting both Unicef and Breast Cancer Campaign as an alternative to 
sending Christmas cards and E-cards. We wish all our clients and contacts a Happy Christmas 

26/04/2007 
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and prosperous New Year. *** 

********* This email is sent for and on behalf of Eversheds LLP ********* 

Eversheds LLP is a limited liability partnership, registered in England and Wales, registered 
number 0C304065, registered oJf!ce Senator House, 85 Queen Victoria Street, London EC4V 4JL. 
Regulated by the Law Society. A list of the members’ names and their professional qualifications is 
available for inspection at the above office. 

Confidentiality." Th& email and its attachments are intended for the above named only and may be 
confidential. If they have come to you in error you must take no action based on them, nor must you 
copy or show them to anyone; please reply to this email and highlight the error. 

Security Warning: Please note that this email has been created in the knowledge that Internet email 
is not a 100% secure communications medium. We advise that you understand and observe this lack 
of security when emailing us. 

Viruses: Although we have taken steps to ensure that this email and attachments are free from any 
virus, we advise that in keeping with good computing practice the recipient should ensure they are 
actually virus free. 

************* [http:Nwww.eversheds.com/]************* 

This electronic message contains information from Hampshire Constabulary which may be legally 
privileged and confidential. Any opinions expressed may be those of the individual and not 
necessarily the Hampshire Constabulary. 

The information is intended to be for the use of the individual(s) or entity named above. If you are 
not the intended recipient, be aware that any disclosure, copying, distribution or use of the contents 
of the information is prohibited. If you have received this electronic message in error, please notify 
us by telephone 

+44 (0) 845 045 45 45 or email to postmaster@hampshire.pnn.police.uk immediately. Please then 
delete this email and destroy any copies of it. 

All communications, including telephone calls and electronic messages 

to and from the Hampshire Constabulary may be subject to monitoring. Replies to this email may be 
seen by employees other than the intended recipient. 

*** Eversheds is supporting both Unicef and Breast Cancer Campaign as an alternative to 
sending Christmas cards and E-cards. We wish all our clients and contacts a Happy Christmas 
and prosperous New Year. *** 

********* This email is sent for and on behalf of Eversheds LLP ********* 

Eversheds LLP is a limited liability partnership, registered in England and Wales, registered 
number 0C304065, registered office Senator House, 85 Queen Victoria Street, London EC4V 4JL. 
Regulated by the Law Society. A list of the members’ names and their professional qualifications is 
available for inspection at the above office. 

26/04/2007 
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Confidentiality: This email and its attachments are intended for the above named only and may be 
confidential. If they have come to you in error you must take no action based on them, nor must you 
copy or show them to anyone; please reply to this email and highlight the error. 

Security Warning: Please note that this email has been created in the knowledge that Internet email 
is not a 100% secure communications medium. We advise that you understand and observe this lack 
of security when emailing us. 

Viruses: Although we have taken steps to ensure that this email and attachments are free from any 
virus, we advise that in keeping with good computing practice the recipient should ensure they are 
actually virus free. 

************* [http://www.eversheds.com/] ************* 

26/04/2007 
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i Code A 
From: 

Sent: 

To: 

14 February 2007 16:58 

Subject: Dr Barton 

* ** Before acting on this email or opening any attachment you are advised to read the Eversheds 

disclaimer at the end of this email. * ** 

Deari Code A I 
I spoke to a i Code A itoday, the husband of one of Dr Barton’s patients. He mentioned 
that he had be~-[iS-~5-L~l~-~ii{i~-~i~5~-~-n-~]-tf~’at you, in turn, had suggested that he contact me. He is unhappy 
about the way the police dealt with his wife’s case, initially treating it as one of the strongest cases, but 
subsequently "down grading " it. I explained that I couldn’t really comment on this, which he accepted. 
He then wanted confirmation that I have received all the papers relating to his wife - medical records and 
witness statements taken by the police. Following the conversation with him, I have checked the position. We 
do have a set of medical records, which were sent to us by the GMC sometime ago, but we do not have any 
other documents, including the witness statements. When I spoke to him he said that the witness statements 
had been sent to the GMC. 
Having checked which documents we currently hold, I need to reve~ to him~ Before doing so, I need to 
consider with you how I should best deal with him I assume that he believes that we, on behalf of the GMC, 
will be Iookig9_~..h_~_~’.~.~ase, and that he has been in touch to make sure that I have all the relevant 
pape~ork. ~ ......... ~_~.~_~_ ....... ~ case is not included in the 13 cases which I am currently looking at, as her case 
was not included in the "top ten" catago~ 3 cases and is not one of the cases which have already been 
referred. 
As mentioned when we last spoke there is a huge amount of material to consider with reference to the 10 
catago~ 3 cases - over 50 lever arch files, and the police are going to send me some more papers 
sho~ly relating to their investigation of 3 of the 5 patients who have already been referrred to the panel, but 
which do not feature in the "top Ten". I am making good progress in the reading in process and by the end of 
the week will be able to send you my initial views - at least with reference to the top ten cases, ( pending 
receipt of the fu~her documentation from the police relating to the other cases ) and based on a selected 
reading of the files. 
The point I need you to consider in the meantime is whether I am authorised to look at any other cases, 
including the case relating to {---~-~---~ or whether I explain to .--~-~-~-~ and any other relatives who 
contact me with similar reque~t~7t~-r~rp~esent purposes we hav~~een-rn~t~ted to review only a ce~ain 
number of cases. 
Regards 

~Code A~ 

Direct Dial: ~ .......... ~-~~--~- ......... ~ 

International: +44 20 7497 9797 
www.eversheds.com 

********* This email is sent for and on behalf of Eversheds LLP ********* 

Eversheds LLP is a limited liability partnership, registered in England and Wales, registered 
number 0C304065, registered office Senator House, 85 Queen Victoria Street, London EC4V 4JL. 
Regulated by the Law Society. A list of the members’ names and their professional qualifications is 
available for inspection at the above office. 

Confidentiality." This email and its attachments are intended for the above named only and may be 
confidential. If they have come to you in error you must take no action based on them, nor must you 
copy or show them to anyone," please reply to this email and highlight the error. 

27/04/2007 
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Security Warning: Please note that this email has been created in the knowledge that Internet email 
is not a 100% secure communications medium. We advise that you understand and observe this lack 
of security when emailing us. 

Viruses." Although we have taken steps to ensure that this email and attachments are free from any 
virus, we advise that in keeping with good computing practice the recipient should ensure they are 
actually virus free. 

************* [http://www.eversheds.com/] ************* 
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Code A i 

From: 

Sent: 13 March 2007 10:54 

TO: 

Subject: RE: Dr. Barton 

Robert 

We have to be careful that we dg_.a~t_e.n~!._u_~_.,investigating every case that the Police rejected, or end up being used as a 
stick to beat the Police with. In i._....�_o_..d.e_._A__.i~ase, the Police initially categorised it as being serious, then changed their 
minds without, apparently, getting a detailed expert report. Whilst I can justify asking you to carry out further 
investigations ofl icase, I cannot justify asking you to carry out further work on Mr Wilson’s case. , Code A, 

It is for Mr Wilson to obtain the relevant information from the Police, not for us to do so. 

On another point, I have just received a telephone call from i Code A i the MDU who represents Dr Barton. During 

the conversation he asked that we disclose to him any info~’iiiffdfi"~tiiii~’e can on a piecemeal basis, which from his point 

of view will make it more manageable. ! agreed that I would ask you to make such disclosures as you feel able to do so. 
However, having thought about it, we need to discuss a way forward in this case before any disclosures can take place, 
after all we do not at this stage know what we will use as evidence and what we will classify as unused material. 

CodeAi 

From:i Code A lOn Behalf Of f Code A i 
.~nt: 13 Nat 2007 10:15 
To:i .................... ~;-~ ~1-~-~- ................... 
Subject: Dr. Barton 

** * Before acting on this email or opening any attachment you are advised to read the 

Eversheds disclaimer at the end of this email. *** 

De a r [_._C...o_._d._..e._ _A._., 

I have been contacted by the relative of another former patient of Dr Barton, Mrs Purnell. I attach a 
copy of a letter received from the patient’s son, Mr Wilson. The letter follows a recent telephone 
conversation with him. 

He contacted me to ask whether I have any documents relating to his mother. When I spoke to him on 
the telephone, he indicated that he intended to make a complaint against the Police concerning their 
investigation of his mother’s death. 

On checking the position, I established that the medical records relating to Mrs Purnell were sent to us 
some time ago by the GMC ( I assume that the Police had previously sent these documents to the 
GMC). 

I explained to Mr Wilson that we only have the medical records and the files in our possession do not 
include any other documents relating to the Police’s investigation. I also explained that currently I am 
looking at a total of 13 cases being the most serious cases (category 3) identified by the Police. I 
mentioned also that his mother’s case is not included in the list of 13. 

Having discussed the position with Mr Wilson, I understood that he would be contacting the Police 
directly to obtain any further information from them. However, you will see from the attached letter that 
he has written to me making a number of points about the Police’s investigation. I am not in a position 
to comment on the points made, unless of course I write to the Police to request all the documents. 
You will see attached to Mr Wilson’s letter a copy of a letter which the Police sent him on 6 September 
2004. This refers to a categorisation of his mother’s case in category 2 i.e. sub optimal care. Also 
enclosed with Mr Wilson’s letter is a note which appears to have been made by one of the experts 
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involved in the Police’s review of the case. This gives very brief details to support a conclusion that 
Mrs Purnell received sub optimal treatment, but that Mrs Purnell would have died in any event without 
opiates being prescribed. 

Would you please confirm that I am._._.a_._u._t.h_._o._r.[.s_.e_._d._.!o deal with Mr Wilson in the same way that I am 
dealing with the queries relating tol Code A i i.e. by seeking copies of all the relevant documents 
relating to the assessment by the 

As a general observation, which concerns both this case and the case involving i_._._.C_._o._.d_.e_._._A_._.i- I expect 
that we will obtain only a very brief synopsis of the experts’ views. I do not expect to receive any 
detailed expert evidence relating to either case. If it transpires that sub optimal care is highlighted in 
either or both cases, I am not sure that a case examiner would have sufficient information on which to 
take a view. Further, more detailed expert evidence may be required, whereas in the 13 cases which I 
am already looking at, a number of detailed experts’ reports have already been prepared. 

I look forward to hearing from you. 

Regards 

i Code A i 

* ***** *** This email is sent for and on behalf of Eversheds LLP * ***** *** 

Eversheds LLP is a limited liability partnership, registered in England and Wales, registered 
number 0C304065, registered office Senator House, 85 Queen Victoria Street, London EC4V 
4JL. Regulated by the Law Society. A list of the members’ names and their professional 
qualifications is available for inspection at the above office. 

Confidentiality: This email and its attachments are intended for the above named only and 
may be confidential If they have come to you in error you must take no action based on them, 
nor must you copy or show them to anyone; please reply to this email and highlight the error. 

Security Warning: Please note that this email has been created in the knowledge that Internet 
email is not a 100% secure communications medium. We advise that you understand and 
observe this lack of security when emailing us. 

Viruses: Although we have taken steps to ensure that this email and attachments are free from 
any virus, we advise that in keeping with good computing practice the recipient should ensure 
they are actually virus free. 

************* [http://www.eversheds.com/] ************* 
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